

## Risk Factors Comparison 2025-03-28 to 2024-03-28 Form: 10-K

Legend: **New Text** ~~Removed Text~~ Unchanged Text **Moved Text Section**

**This Annual Report contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations.** Our business involves significant risks, some of which are described below. You should carefully consider these ~~risks~~ **risk factors**, ~~in addition to~~ **together with all of** the other information ~~contained~~ **included** in this Annual Report, ~~including as well as our other publicly~~ **available filings with the SEC. The occurrence of any of the events** ~~our~~ **or developments described in** financial statements and related notes and the section of **following risk factors and the risks described elsewhere in** this Annual Report titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of any of the events ~~or our~~ **developments described in the** ~~other filings with~~ **following risk factors and the SEC** risks described elsewhere in this Annual Report could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and the trading price of our securities. ~~Additional risks and~~ **cause** uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also ~~impair our business operations. This Annual Report also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and~~ **uncertainties. Our actual results could to** differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements ~~as a result of factors that are described in the following risk factors and the risks described elsewhere in this Annual Report. The following risk factors apply to our business and operations. These risk factors are not exhaustive, and investors are encouraged to perform their own investigation with respect to the business, financial condition and prospects of our business, financial condition and prospects. You should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information included in this Report, including matters addressed in the section entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” We may face additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, which may also impair our business or financial condition. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes to the financial statements included herein.~~ **Risks Related to Our Business, Operations and Industry** Our commercial success depends on our ability to develop and operate **plants** production facilities for the commercial production of **renewable** gasoline. Our business strategy includes growth primarily through the construction and development of commercial production **plants** facilities, including the development of our first commercial production facility which we expect to support first commercial production of renewable gasoline as early as 2026. This strategy depends on our ability to successfully construct and complete commercial production facilities **plants** on favorable terms and on our expected schedule, obtain the necessary permits, governmental approvals and carbon credit qualifications needed to operate our commercial production facilities **plants** and identify and evaluate development and partnership opportunities to expand our business. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully develop any commercial production facilities **plants**, obtain necessary **approval approvals**, qualifications and permits necessary to operate, identify new opportunities and develop new technologies and commercial production facilities **plants**, or establish and maintain our relationships with key strategic partners. In addition, we will compete with other companies for these development opportunities, which may increase our costs. We also expect to achieve growth through the expansion of our in-process projects as the facilities are expanded or otherwise begin to produce renewable gasoline, but we cannot assure you that we will be able to reach or renew the necessary agreements to complete these commercial production facilities **plants** or expansions. If we are unable to successfully identify and consummate future commercial production facility **plant** opportunities or complete or expand our planned commercial production facilities **plants**, it will impede our ability to execute our growth strategy. There is no assurance that our JDA with Cottonmouth Ventures, a ~~subsidiary of Diamondback,~~ will result in a FID to proceed and / or entry into final definitive agreements with respect to the proposed project in the Permian Basin. **We** ~~Likewise, there is no assurance our CDMA with CTV JV will result in a FID to proceed and / or entry into final definitive agreements with respect to the Kern County project. In both circumstances, we will be required to expend development costs prior to such determination, which costs we will not recoup if such project~~ **does (s) do (es)** not proceed. Our ability to develop and operate commercial production facilities **plants**, as well as expand production at future commercial production facilities **plants**, is subject to many risks beyond our control, including: **•** ~~regulatory changes that affect the value of renewable~~ **fuels or low-carbon** fuels including changes to existing federal RFS program or state level low-carbon fuel credit systems, which could have a significant effect on the financial performance of our commercial production facilities **plants** and the number of potential projects with attractive economics; **•** ~~technological risks, including technological advances or changes in production methods that may render our technologies and products obsolete or uneconomical, delaying or failing to adapt or incorporate technological advances, new standards or production technologies that may require us to make significant expenditures to replace or modify our operations, and challenges in obtaining, implementing or financing any new technologies;~~ **•** ~~competition from other carbon-based and non-carbon-based fuel producers that may have greater resources than us;~~ **•** ~~changes in energy commodity prices, such as crude oil and natural gas as well as wholesale electricity prices, which could have a significant effect on our revenues and expenses;~~ **•** ~~changes in quality standards or other regulatory changes that may limit our ability to produce~~ **renewable gasoline or increase the costs of processing renewable gasoline, or limit the attractiveness of our technology**; **•** ~~changes in the broader waste collection industry or changes to environmental regulations governing the~~ **waste collection** industry, including changes affecting the waste collection and biogas potential of the landfill industry, which could limit the renewable fuel feedstock ~~that we currently target~~ for our commercial production facilities **plants**; **•** ~~substantial construction risks, including the risk of delay, that may arise due to forces outside of our control, including those related to engineering and environmental~~ **problems, changes in laws and regulations and inclement weather and labor** disruptions; **•** ~~the ability to establish and maintain our relationships with key strategic partners, on favorable terms or at all;~~ **•**

• disruptions in sales, ~~productions~~ **production**, service or other business activities or our inability to attract and retain qualified personnel; • operating risks and the effect of disruptions on our business, including the effects of global health crises or pandemics (such as COVID- 19), weather conditions, catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, earthquakes, droughts and acts of terrorism, and other force majeure events on us, our customers, suppliers, distributors and subcontractors; • accidents involving personal injury or the loss of life; • entering into markets where we have less experience than our competitors; • challenges arising from our ability to recruit and retain key personnel; • the ability to obtain financing for a commercial production **facility plant** on acceptable terms or at all and the need for substantially more capital than initially budgeted to complete a commercial production **facility plant** and exposure to liabilities as a result of unforeseen environmental, construction, technological or other complications; • failures or delays in obtaining desired or necessary land rights, including ownership, leases, easements, zoning rights or building permits; • global and regional macroeconomic conditions, such as **tariffs**, high inflation, high interest rates, changes to monetary policy, and military hostilities in multiple geographies (including the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia and the conflict in the Middle East); • a decrease in the availability, pricing or timeliness of delivery of raw materials and components, necessary for the commercial production **facilities plants** to function; • **increased geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of evolving domestic and foreign tariff policies, may adversely affect us by increasing costs of our business;** • obtaining and keeping in good standing permits, authorizations and consents (including environmental and operating permits) from local city, county, state or U. S. federal governments as well as local and U. S. federal governmental organizations; • difficulties in identifying, obtaining and permitting suitable sites for new commercial production **facilities plants**; and • identifying potential customers for our products or entering into contracts to sell our products on favorable terms. Any of these factors could prevent us from developing, operating or expanding our commercial production **facilities plants**, or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our limited history, lack of revenue and limited liquidity makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects and may increase the risks associated with your investment. ~~We were formed in 2020 and although~~ **Although** our core syngas-to- gasoline technology has been developed and tested **since 2007** for over thirteen years, we have not produced gasoline on a large- scale, commercial level. As a result, we have a limited operating history upon which to evaluate our business and future prospects, which subjects us to a number of risks and uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and predict future growth. ~~Following the acquisition of the patented STG ® process and demonstration facility with over 10, 500 historical operating hours, we have continued to focus on commercial scale production of on- spec renewable gasoline from renewable feedstocks. The reactor designs, gas velocity, process configurations, and control system of the demonstration facility are representative of a full- scale syngas- to- gasoline production facility. We have also participated in carbon lifecycle studies to validate the CI score and reduced lifecycle carbon emissions of our renewable gasoline as well as fuel testing studies to validate the specification and performance of our gasoline product. Since the acquisition of the STG ® technology in 2020, we have made progress towards constructing our first commercial production facility plant, including more recently focusing on our development of projects that we believe have quicker paths to commercial operations such as our joint project in the Permian Basin . While we have not abandoned the Maricopa, Arizona project~~ **Project**, we anticipate the project in the Permian Basin ~~to be~~ **result in** our first commercial production **facility plant**. We have encountered and expect to continue to encounter risks and difficulties experienced by growing companies in rapidly developing and changing industries, including challenges related to achieving market acceptance of our **low- carbon or renewable fuel fuels**, competing against companies with greater financial and technical resources, competing against entrenched incumbent competitors that have long- standing relationships with our prospective customers in the commercial renewable fuels market, recruiting and retaining qualified employees, and making use of our limited resources. We cannot ensure that we will be successful in addressing these and other challenges that we may face in the future, and our business may be adversely affected if we do not manage these risks appropriately. As a result, we may not attain sufficient revenue (if any) to achieve or maintain positive cash flow from operations or profitability in any given future period, if at all. To date, we have not generated any revenue. We do not expect to generate any meaningful revenue unless and until we are able to commercialize our first production **facility plant**. Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses ~~, have an accumulated deficit of \$ 23. 9 million as of December 31, 2023, and negative operating cash flow flows during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Management~~ **We expects** ~~expect~~ that operating losses and negative cash flows ~~may increase because~~ **will continue to be generated due to ongoing funding of general and administrative expenses and development activities until such time as our proposed commercial production plants become operational. Further, we expect that** additional costs and expenses related ~~capital will be required in order~~ **to the complete our first commercial production plant. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain this financing on acceptable terms, or at all, if and when required. We are a development stage company with a history of technology- net losses, we are currently not profitable and we may not achieve or maintain profitability and if we incur substantial losses, we may have to curtail our operations, which may prevent us from successfully operating and expanding our business. We have incurred net losses since our inception. We are currently in** the development **stage** of market and strategic relationships with other companies. Our continued solvency is dependent upon our ability to obtain additional working capital to complete our product development and to successfully achieve commerciality of our projects. Following the Business Combination and the closing of the PIPE Financing, we have used and expect to continue to use cash on hand ~~and~~ **to fund our ongoing operations and R & D activities. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately \$ 28. 8 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand. We believe that based on our current level of operating expenses and currently available cash on hand, we will have sufficient funds available to cover R & D activities and operating cash needs through 2024. However, as we have not yet commenced principal operations or generated revenue. Furthermore, we expect to spend significant amounts on further developed- development a- of our technology, acquiring or otherwise gaining access to commercial production plants facility and have no meaningful revenue to date,** ~~we may require additional funds in future..... integrity of the voluntary carbon~~

credit market marketing is currently subject to pressures and general scrutiny relating to a number of factors including insufficiency of credit demand, the risk that carbon credits could be counted multiple times, concerns regarding the additionality or permanence of climate benefits that the credits represent, lack of standardization of and administrative expenses concerns regarding the integrity of credit verification. Additionally, such forces could put negative pressure on the value of voluntary carbon credits or otherwise make it more difficult to monetize any climate benefits that may be associated with our planned growth and management products. More broadly, the value of products produced using operations as a public company. In some market environments, we may have limited access to incremental financing, which could defer our or process technologies cancel growth projects, reduce business activity or cause us to default under any debt agreements if we are unable to meet our payment schedules. In addition, the cost of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights and defending ourselves against claims by others that we may be dependent-violating their intellectual property rights may be significant. As a result, even if we are able to generate revenues in future periods, we expect that our expenses will exceed revenues for the foreseeable future. We do not expect to achieve profitability in the near future, and may never achieve it. If we fail to achieve profitability, or if the time required to achieve profitability is longer than we anticipate, we may not be able to continue our business. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on the value of carbon credits which may fluctuate based on a quarterly or annual basis. As such, we are exposed to these-- the risk of being a development market forces relevant to regulatory carbon markets or voluntary carbon markets. Under the current RFS regulations, renewable gasoline produced from separated yard waste, crop residue, slash, and pre-stage company commercial thinnings, biogenic components of separated municipal solid waste, cellulosic components of separated food waste, and cellulosic components of annual cover crops through a gasification and upgrading process qualifies for D3 RINs. We intend for our commercial production facilities to utilize gasification and upgrading to produce renewable gasoline from one or more of these feedstocks. Accordingly, we believe that the renewable gasoline produced by our commercial production facilities will qualify for D3 RINs and intend to register with EPA as a producer history of losses in RINs prior to the commercial operation of our first commercial production facility. However, if our renewable gasoline is unable to qualify under the RFS for the D3 RIN and an various early- state stage carbon programs, or for the generation of quality voluntary carbon credits that can be sold on registries preferred by consumers, or if changes to regulatory or voluntary standards otherwise limit the potential for such qualification, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted. Delayed development..... legislative, agency, or judicial determinations. Significant capital investment is required to develop and conduct our operations and we intend to raise additional funds through debt financing for our planned operations and these funds may not be available with acceptable terms or may not be available when needed. The construction and development of our proposed commercial production facilities plants, including the Permian Basin Project, requires substantial capital investment. We intend may be required to raise additional fund funds to finance approximately 70% of such capital in developments or operations, and the there future through debt can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all which may include project financing, if and when required industrial revenue bonds, pollution control bonds or for these purposes some other combination. We While we have been in discussions with banks and other credit counterparties regarding our debt financing options, including project financing, industrial revenue bonds, or pollution control bonds, and other debt instruments. While these discussions have led to indications of interest from lenders debt financing equivalent to 70% of our expected capital expenditure requirements, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining such financing. If we are unable to obtain debt financing on favorable terms or at all, our development timeline may be delayed and would, the costs of such financing may be higher than anticipated, or we may be require required raising of to raise additional equity or debt capital by other means. Additionally Notwithstanding the PIPE Investment, we may will likely be required to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity, equity- related or debt securities, through obtaining credit from government or financial institutions or by engaging in joint ventures or other alternative forms of financing. We cannot be certain that additional funds will be available on favorable terms when required, or at all. If we cannot raise additional funds when needed, our financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. If we raise funds through the issuance of debt securities or through loan arrangements, the terms of such debt securities or loan arrangements could require significant interest payments, contain covenants that restrict our business, or contain other unfavorable terms. The current high interest rate environment adds additional risk and expense to the use-issuance of debt securities or loan arrangements to fund capital investment. In addition, to the extent we raise funds through the sale of additional equity securities, our stockholders would experience additional dilution. In order to construct new commercial production facilities plants, we typically face a long and variable design, fabrication, and construction development cycle that requires significant resource commitments and may create fluctuations in whether and when any revenue is recognized, and may have an adverse effect on our business. The timeframe to development---- develop, design and construction---- construct process for our commercial production plants is uncertain facilities generally lasts from 24 to 36 months, on average. Prior to The development process typically begins by constructing-conducting and developing a preliminary review and assessment as to whether the commercial production plant facility, we typically conduct a preliminary review and assess whether the commercial production facility is commercially viable based on our expected return on investment, investment payback period, and other operating metrics, as well as the necessary permits to develop such commercial production facility plant. This extended development process requires the dedication of significant time and resources from our management team, with no certainty of success or recovery of our expenses. Further, upon which could result in adverse financial consequences for our business. If the preliminary review and assessment merits moving forward with the proposed project, the next step in development process would be to complete a FEED study for the proposed project. We expect that a FEED study will generally last up to 12 months, on average. Variables such as power and water may impact and extend the duration of a

**FEED study. If, after completing the FEED study, the project achieves FID, the next step in the development process would be to complete engineering, procurement and construction. We expect that the engineering, procurement and construction process for our commercial production plants will generally last from 18 to 24 months, on average. Variables such as lead times for essential components and weather may impact and extend the duration of the engineering, procurement and construction process. As such, there are many risks and uncertainties leading up to any construction of a commercial production plant. If a commercial production plant commences of** operations, we expect **that** it may take six months or longer for the commercial production **facility-plant** to ramp up to **our-its** expected production level. All of these factors, and in particular, increased spending that is not offset by anticipated increased revenues, can contribute to fluctuations in our quarterly financial performance and increase the likelihood that our operating results in a particular period will fall below investor expectations. Our business will require suitable tracts of real property, **with access to power and water,** upon which to construct and operate the specialized equipment supporting our commercial production **facilities-plants**. We anticipate that such tracts of real property will be predominantly leased from third parties under long- term land leases, but it is possible that some of such tracts may be purchased by us. If we are unable to identify such suitable tracts of real property, or if we are unable to purchase or lease such tracts at commercially reasonable rates and under terms favorable to us, our business may be adversely affected. The construction and operation of the equipment supporting our commercial production **facilities-plants'** sales may require specialized permitting from applicable governmental authorities. We may be unable to obtain such specialized permitting, or we may experience significant delays in obtaining such specialized permitting, and this may delay our ability to launch these facilities for commercial operations, which may have a significant impact on any anticipated revenue and profitability. The complexity, expense, and nature of customer procurement processes result in a lengthy customer acquisition and sales process. We anticipate that it may take us months to attract, obtain an award from, contract with, and recognize revenue from the production of renewable gasoline by a new commercial production **facility plant**, if we are successful at all. We have entered into relatively new markets **for renewables-** including renewable natural gas, renewable gasoline and biofuel, and these new markets are highly volatile and have significant risk associated with current market conditions. We have limited experience in marketing and selling **gasoline, whether renewable gasoline or not. Moreover, renewable fuel markets are subject to additional factors, such as variability in feedstock availability and pricing, and uncertainty regarding long- term demand. We are a relatively new entrant to these markets**. As such, we may not be able to compete successfully with existing or new competitors in supplying **renewable-gasoline** to potential customers. If we are unable to establish production and sales channels that allow us to offer comparable products at attractive prices, we may not be able to compete effectively in the market. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that our **renewables gasoline** business will ever generate significant revenues or maintain profitability. The failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Fluctuations in the price of product inputs, including **natural gas or renewable feedstocks, natural gas and other feedstocks,** may affect our cost structure. Our approach to the **gasoline renewable fuels** market will be dependent on the price of **renewable-feedstocks, such as biomass, as well as natural gas or biomass, which (including synthetic natural gas) and other feedstocks that** will be used to produce our **renewable-gasoline**. A decrease in the availability of feedstocks or an increase in the price may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results. At certain levels, prices may make these products uneconomical to use and produce as we may be unable to pass the full amount of feedstock cost increases on to our customers. The price and availability of **biomass, natural gas and/or other feedstocks** may be influenced by general economic, market and regulatory factors. These factors include **farming decisions, but are not limited to, geopolitical uncertainty, including as a result of evolving domestic and foreign tariff policies, the impact of proposed environmental regulations and other government policies and subsidies with respect to agriculture and international trade and global supply and demand and supply-** For example, renewable feedstock prices may increase significantly in response to increased demand for biomass for the production of competing renewable fuels. Fluctuations in petroleum prices and customer demand patterns may reduce demand for renewable fuels and bio- based chemicals and a prolonged environment of low petroleum prices or reduced demand for renewable fuels or biofuels could have a material adverse effect on our long- term business prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Our **natural- gas- based and renewable gasoline-gasolines** may be considered **an alternative-alternatives** to petroleum- based fuels. Therefore, if the price of crude oil falls, any revenues that we generate from **renewable-our** gasoline could decline and we may be unable to produce products that are a commercially viable alternative to petroleum- based fuels. Additionally, demand for liquid transportation fuels, including renewable gasoline, may decrease due to economic conditions or other factors outside of our control, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. Long- term renewable fuels prices may fluctuate substantially due to factors outside of our control. The price of renewable fuels can vary significantly for many reasons, including: (i) increases and decreases in the number of internal combustion engines in our markets; (ii) changes in competing liquid hydrocarbon technologies or fuel transportation capacity constraints or inefficiencies; (iii) energy or renewable fuel supply disruptions; (iv) weather conditions (which may be affected by climate change); (v) seasonal fluctuations; (vi) changes in consumer preferences and / or the demand for energy or in patterns of renewable fuel usage, including the potential development of demand- side management tools and practices; (vii) development of new fuels or new technologies for the production of renewable fuels; (viii) federal and state regulations; and (viii) then prevailing global and regional macroeconomic conditions. **Inflation may adversely** affect us by increasing costs of our business. Inflation can adversely affect us by increasing costs of feedstock, equipment, materials, and labor. In addition, inflation is often accompanied by higher interest rates. In an inflationary environment, such as the current economic environment, depending on other economic conditions, we may be unable to raise prices of our fuels or products to keep up with the rate of inflation, which would reduce our profit margins. Given the **recent** inflation rates **in 2023 and thus far in 2024,** we have experienced, and continue to experience, increases in prices of feedstock, equipment, materials, and labor. Continued inflationary pressures could impact **our financial results.** We may face

substantial competition from companies with greater resources and financial strength, which could adversely affect our performance and growth. We may face substantial competition in the market for renewable fuel **and gasoline generally**. Our competitors include companies in the incumbent petroleum-based industry as well as those in the emerging renewable fuels industry. The petroleum-based industry benefits from a large established infrastructure, production capability and business relationships. The greater resources and financial strength in this industry provide significant competitive advantages that we may not be able to overcome in a timely manner. Our ability to compete successfully will depend on our ability to develop proprietary products that reach the market in a timely manner and are technologically superior to and / or are less expensive than other products on the market. Many of our competitors have substantially greater production, financial, research and development, personnel and marketing resources than we do. In addition, certain of our competitors may also benefit from local government subsidies and other incentives that are not available to us. As a result, our competitors may be able to develop competing and / or superior technologies and processes, and compete more aggressively and sustain that competition over a longer period of time than we could. Our technologies and products may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by technological advances or entirely different approaches developed by one or more of our competitors. As more companies develop new intellectual property in our markets, the possibility of a competitor acquiring patent or other rights that may limit our business or operations increases, which could lead to litigation. Furthermore, to secure purchase agreements from certain customers, we may be required to enter into exclusive supply contracts, which could limit our ability to further expand our sales to new customers. Likewise, major potential customers may be locked into long-term, exclusive agreements with our competitors, which could inhibit our ability to compete for their business. Our ability to compete successfully also depends on our ability to identify, hire, attract, train and develop and retain highly qualified personnel. We may not be able to recruit and hire a sufficient number of such personnel which may adversely affect our results of operations, sales capabilities and financial position. New hires require significant training and time before they achieve full productivity and the ability to attract, hire and retain them depends on our ability to provide competitive compensation. There is significant competition for personnel with strong sales skills and technical knowledge. We may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals and such failure could adversely affect our business, including the execution of our proposed growth projects. In addition, various governments have recently announced a number of spending programs focused on the development of clean technologies, including alternatives to petroleum-based fuels and the reduction of carbon emissions. Such spending programs could lead to increased funding for our competitors or a rapid increase in the number of competitors within those markets. We also may face substantial competition as we develop our commercial production **facilities-plants** and STG® technology and seek to work with **energy participants**, agricultural industry participants, commercial waste companies and landowners to source our renewable feedstocks, including biomass and MSW, **as well as and other feedstocks, including** natural gas, **and other feedstocks** and lease or acquire land to install and operate commercial production **facilities-plants**. Our competitors include established companies and developers with significantly greater resources and financial strength, which may provide them with competitive advantages that we may not be able to overcome in a timely manner, or at all. Our limited resources relative to many of our competitors may cause us to fail to anticipate or respond adequately to new developments and other competitive pressures. This failure could reduce our competitiveness and market share, adversely affect our results of operations and financial position and prevent us from obtaining or maintaining profitability. Our proposed growth projects may not be completed or, if completed, may not perform as expected and our project development activities may consume a significant portion of our management's focus, and if not successful, reduce any anticipated profitability. We plan to grow our business by building multiple commercial production **facilities-plants**, including our first commercial STG® based production **facility-plant** in the United States, along with our additional planned and identified potential commercial production **facilities-plants, with which we expect to produce low-carbon or renewable fuels, depending upon feedstocks utilized**. Development projects may require us to spend significant sums for engineering, permitting, legal, financial advisory and other expenses before we determine whether a development project is feasible, economically attractive or capable of being financed. Our development projects are typically planned to be large and complex, and we may not be able to complete them. There can be no assurance that we will be able to negotiate the required agreements, overcome any local opposition, or obtain the necessary approvals, licenses, permits and financing. Failure to achieve any of these elements may prevent the development and construction of a project. If that were to occur, we could lose all of our investment in development expenditures and may be required to write-off project development assets. We may not be able to develop, maintain and grow strategic relationships, identify new strategic relationship opportunities, or form strategic relationships, in the future. We expect that our ability to establish, maintain, and manage strategic relationships, such as our relationships with Cottonmouth Ventures, CTV JV, InEnTec Inc. and EcoStrat Inc., could have a significant impact on the success of our business, although there can be no guarantee that these relationships will provide such impact. While we expect that our STG® technology will enable us to become a more substantial operating entity in the future, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify or secure suitable and scalable business relationship opportunities in the future or that our competitors will not capitalize on such opportunities before we do. Additionally, we cannot guarantee that the companies with which we have developed or will develop strategic relationships will continue to devote the resources necessary to promote mutually beneficial business relationships and grow our business. Our current arrangements are not exclusive, and some of our strategic partners work with our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with key strategic partners, our overall growth could be impaired, and our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results could be adversely affected. We may acquire or invest in additional companies, which may divert our management's attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, and consume resources that are necessary to sustain our business. Although we have not made any acquisitions to date, our business strategy in the future may include acquiring other complementary products, technologies, or businesses. We also may enter relationships with other businesses to expand our operations and to create service networks to support our production and delivery of

renewable gasoline. An acquisition, investment, or business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. We may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, products, services, personnel, or operations of the acquired companies particularly if the key personnel of the acquired companies choose not to work for us. Acquisitions may also disrupt our business, divert our resources, and require significant management attention that would otherwise be available for the development of our business. Moreover, the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, investment, or business relationship may not be realized or we may be exposed to unknown liabilities. Negotiating these transactions can be time consuming, difficult, and expensive, and our ability to close these transactions may often be subject to approvals that are beyond our control. Consequently, these transactions, even if undertaken and announced, may not close. Even if we do successfully complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals, and any acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by our customers, securities analysts, and investors. Fluctuations in the price and availability of energy to power our facilities may harm our performance. We anticipate **that** our commercial production **facilities to use plants will require** significant amounts of energy to produce our **renewable** gasoline. Accordingly, our business is dependent upon energy supplied by third parties. The prices and availability of energy resources are subject to volatile market conditions. These market conditions are affected by factors beyond our control, such as weather conditions, overall economic conditions and governmental regulations. Should the price of energy increase or should access to the required energy sources be unavailable, our business could suffer and have a material adverse impact on our results of operations. In addition, a lack of availability of sufficient amounts of renewable energy to effectively decarbonize our facilities could have a material impact on our business and results of operations. We may be subject to liabilities and losses that may not be covered by insurance. Our employees and facilities are and will be subject to the hazards associated with producing renewable gasoline. Operating hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, damage to, or destruction of, property, plant and equipment and environmental damage. We **continue to** maintain insurance coverage in amounts against the risks that we believe are consistent with industry practice, and maintain a safety program. However, we could sustain losses for uninsurable or uninsured risks, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. Events that result in significant personal injury or damage to our property or to property owned by third parties or other losses that are not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position. Insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and quantify due to unknown factors, including the severity of an injury, the determination of our liability in proportion to other parties, the number of incidents not reported and the effectiveness of our safety program. If we were to experience insurance claims or costs above our coverage limits or that are not covered by our insurance, we might be required to use working capital to satisfy these claims rather than to maintain or expand our operations. To the extent that we experience a material increase in the frequency or severity of accidents or workers' compensation claims, or unfavorable developments on existing claims, our operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Renewable gasoline has not previously been used as a commercial fuel in significant amounts, its use subjects us to product liability risks and we may become subject to product liability claims, which could harm our financial condition and liquidity if we are not able to successfully defend or insure against such claims. Renewable gasoline has not been used as a commercial fuel in large quantities or for a long period of time. Research regarding this product and its distribution infrastructure is ongoing. Although renewable gasoline has been tested on some engines, there is a risk that it may damage engines or otherwise fail to perform as expected. If renewable gasoline degrades the performance or reduces the life-cycle of engines, or causes them to fail to meet emissions standards, market acceptance could be slowed or stopped, and we could be subject to product liability claims. A significant product liability lawsuit could substantially impair our production efforts and could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations. While we intend to carry insurance for product liability, it is possible that our insurance coverage may not cover the full exposure on a product liability claim of significant magnitude. A successful product liability claim against us could require us to pay a substantial monetary award. A product liability claim could also generate substantial negative publicity about our business and operations and could have an adverse effect on our brand, business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

**Liabilities and costs associated with hazardous materials..... access to and costs of capital.** Failure of third parties to manufacture quality products or provide reliable services in accordance with schedules, prices, quality and volumes that are acceptable to us could cause delays in developing and operating our commercial production **facilities-plants**, which could damage our reputation, adversely affect our partner relationships or adversely affect our growth. Our success depends on our ability to develop and operate our commercial production **facilities-plants** in a timely manner, which depends in part on the ability of third parties to provide us with timely and reliable products and services. In developing and operating our commercial production **facilities-plants** and technologies, we rely on products meeting our design specifications and components manufactured and supplied by third parties, and on services performed by contractors and subcontractors. We also rely on contractors and subcontractors to perform substantially all of the construction and installation work related to our commercial production **facilities-plants**, and we often need to engage contractors or subcontractors with whom we have no past experience. If any of our contractors or subcontractors are unable to provide services that meet or exceed our expectations or satisfy our contractual commitments, our reputation, business and operating results could be harmed. In addition, if we are unable to avail ourselves of warranties and other contractual protections with providers of products and services, we may incur liability to our customers or additional costs related to the affected products, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, any delays, malfunctions, inefficiencies or interruptions in these products or services could adversely affect the quality and performance of our commercial production **facilities-plants** and require considerable expense to find replacement products and to maintain and repair our facilities. This could cause us to experience interruption in our production and distribution of renewable gasoline, difficulty retaining current relationships and attracting new relationships, or harm our brand, reputation or growth. We may be unable to successfully perform under future supply and distribution agreements to provide our **renewable** gasoline, which could harm our commercial prospects. Our business strategy is to enter

into multiple supply agreements pursuant to which we will supply our renewable gasoline to various customers. Under certain of these supply agreements, we expect the purchasers will agree to pay for and receive, or cause to be received by a third party, or pay for even if not taken, the renewable gasoline under contract (a “take-or-pay” arrangement). We anticipate that the timing and volume commitment of certain of these agreements will be conditioned upon, and subject to, our ability to complete the construction of our first commercial production facility plant and our additional planned and identified potential commercial production facilities plants. In order to construct and commence operations of commercial production facilities plants, we must secure third-party financing. We While we believe that we will be able to secure adequate financing in order to commence construction of and complete our commercial production facilities plants and, in turn, perform under these agreements, we cannot assure you that we will in the future be able to obtain adequate financing on favorable terms, or at all. Furthermore, we have not demonstrated that we can meet the production levels and specifications contemplated in anticipated or future supply agreements. If our production is slower than we expect, if demand decreases or if we encounter difficulties in successfully completing our first commercial production facility plant and our additional planned and identified potential commercial production facilities plants, the counterparties may terminate the supply agreements and potential customers may be less willing to negotiate definitive supply agreements with us, and therefore adversely impact our anticipated financial performance. In addition, from time to time, we may enter into letters of intent, memoranda of understanding and other largely non-binding agreements or understandings with potential customers or partners in order to develop our business and the markets that we serve. We can make no assurance that legally binding, definitive agreements reflecting the terms of such non-binding agreements will be completed with such customers or partners, or at all. Third parties on whom we may rely..... due to employee error or malfeasance. Our facilities and processes may fail to produce renewable gasoline at the volumes, rates and costs we expect. Some, or all, of our future commercial production facilities plants may be in locations distant from biomass and MSW, natural gas, biomass and MSW, or other feedstock sources, which could increase our feedstock costs or prevent us from acquiring sufficient feedstock volumes for commercial production. General market conditions might also cause increases in feedstock prices, which could likewise increase our production costs. Even if we secure access to sufficient volumes of feedstock, our commercial production facilities plants may fail to perform as expected. The equipment and subsystems that we install in our commercial production facilities plants may never operate as planned. Unexpected problems may force us to cease or delay production and the time and costs involved with such delays may prove prohibitive. Any or all of these risks could prevent us from achieving the production throughput and yields necessary to achieve our target annualized production run rates and / or to meet the future volume demands or minimum requirements of our customers, including pursuant to definitive supply or distribution agreements that we may enter into, which may subject us to monetary damages. Failure to achieve these rates or meet these minimum requirements, or achieving them only after significant additional expenditures, could substantially harm our commercial performance. We may in the future use hedging..... for the losses that may occur. Even if we are successful in completing the first commercial production facility plant and consistently producing renewable gasoline on a commercial scale, we may not be successful in commencing and expanding commercial operations to support the growth of our business. Our ability to achieve meaningful future revenue will depend in large part upon our ability to attract customers and enter into contracts on favorable terms. We expect that many of our customers will be large companies with extensive experience operating in the fuels or chemicals markets. We lack significant commercial operating experience and may face difficulties in developing marketing expertise in these fields. Our business model relies upon our ability to successfully implement the first commercial production facility plant and commence and expand commercial operations and successfully negotiate, structure and fulfill long-term supply agreements for our renewable gasoline. Agreements with potential customers may initially only provide for the purchase of limited quantities from us. Our ability to increase our sales will depend in large part upon our ability to expand these existing customer relationships into long-term supply agreements. Establishing, maintaining and expanding relationships with customers can require substantial investment without any assurance from customers that they will place significant orders. In addition, many of our potential customers may be more experienced in these matters than we are, and we may fail to successfully negotiate these agreements in a timely manner or on favorable terms which, in turn, may force us to slow our production, dedicate additional resources to increasing our storage capacity and / or dedicate resources to sales in spot markets. Furthermore, should we become more dependent on spot market sales, any potential profitability will become increasingly vulnerable to short-term fluctuations in the price and demand for petroleum-based fuels and competing substitutes. We are a development stage company with a history of net losses, we are currently not profitable and we may not achieve or maintain profitability and if we incur substantial losses, we may have to curtail our operations, which may prevent us from successfully operating and expanding our business. We have incurred net losses since our inception. We are currently in the development stage and have not yet commenced principal operations or generated revenue. Furthermore, we expect to spend significant amounts on further development of our technology, acquiring or otherwise gaining access to commercial production facilities, marketing and general and administrative expenses associated with our planned growth and management of operations as a public company. In some market environments, we may have limited access to incremental financing, which could defer or cancel growth projects, reduce business activity or cause us to default under any debt agreements if we are unable to meet our payment schedules. In addition, the cost of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights and defending ourselves against claims by others that we may be violating their intellectual property rights may be significant. As a result, even if we are able to generate revenues in future periods, we expect that our expenses will exceed revenues for the foreseeable future. We do not expect to achieve profitability in the near future, and may never achieve it. If we fail to achieve profitability, or if the time required to achieve profitability is longer than we anticipate, we may not be able to continue our business. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. As such, we are exposed to the risk of being a development-stage company with a history of losses in an early-stage of operations. Our actual costs may be greater than expected in developing our commercial production

facilities-plants or growth projects, causing us to realize significantly lower profits, if any, or greater losses. We generally must estimate the costs of completing a specific commercial production facility-plant or growth project prior to the construction of the facility or project. The actual cost of labor and materials may vary from the costs we originally estimated. These variations may cause the gross cost for a commercial production facility-plant or growth project to differ from those we originally estimated. Cost overruns on our commercial production facilities-plants and growth projects could occur due to changes in a variety of factors such as: • failure to properly estimate costs of engineering, materials, equipment, labor or financing; • unanticipated technical problems with the structures, materials or services; • unanticipated project modifications; • changes in the costs of equipment, materials, labor or contractors (whether as a result of supply chain issues, macroeconomic conditions or otherwise); • our strategic partners, suppliers' or contractors' failure to perform; • changes in laws and regulations; and • delays caused by weather conditions. As commercial production facilities-plants or projects grow in size and complexity, multiple factors may contribute to reduced profit or greater losses, and depending on the size of the particular project, variations from the estimated costs could have a material adverse effect on our business. For example, if costs exceed our estimates, it could cause us to realize significantly lower profits or greater losses and cash flows. Business interruptions, including those related to the widespread outbreak of an illness, pandemic (such as COVID- 19), adverse weather conditions, manmade problems such as terrorism and other catastrophic events, may have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations. We are vulnerable to natural disasters, the intensity or frequency of which may be influenced by climate change, and other events that could disrupt our operations. Any of our facilities or future facilities or operations may be harmed or rendered inoperable by catastrophic events, such as natural disasters, including earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, wildfires, floods; nuclear disasters, riots, civil disturbances, war, acts of terrorism or other criminal activities; pandemics (such as COVID- 19); power outages and other events beyond our control. We do not have a detailed disaster recovery plan. In addition, we may not carry sufficient business interruption or other insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur and it is possible that sufficient insurance coverage may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Any losses or damages we incur could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows and success as an overall business. In the event of natural disaster or other catastrophic event, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure production interruptions, reputational harm, delays in manufacturing, delays in the development and testing of our STG ® solutions, and related technologies, and the loss of critical data, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. If our facilities are damaged by such natural disasters or catastrophic events, the repair or replacement would likely be costly and any such efforts would likely require substantial time that may affect our ability to produce and deliver our renewable gasoline. Any future disruptions in our operations could negatively impact our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results and harm our reputation. In addition, we may not carry enough insurance to compensate for the losses that may occur. Disruption in the supply chain, including increases in costs, shortage of materials or other disruption of supply, or in the workforce could materially adversely affect our business. We rely on our suppliers and strategic partners for our business, from feedstocks to materials for our commercial production facilities-plants and our STG ® technology. Future delays or interruptions in the supply chain could expose us to the various risks which would likely significantly increase our costs and / or impact our operations or business plans including: • we or our strategic partners may have excess or inadequate inventory of feedstocks for operation of our facilities; • we may face delays in construction or development of our growth projects; • we may not be able to timely procure parts or equipment to upgrade, replace, or repair our facilities and technology system; and • our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand, which could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders and meet our requirements. process technologies could harm

**Liabilities and costs associated with hazardous materials, contamination and other environmental conditions may require us to conduct investigations or results of operations remediation or expose us to other liabilities, cash flow both of which may adversely impact our operations and financial condition. We may incur liabilities for the investigation and cleanup of any environmental contamination at our commercial production facilities, or at off-site locations where we arrange for the disposal of hazardous substances or wastes. For example, under CERCLA and other federal, state and local laws, certain broad categories of persons, including an owner or operator of a property, or businesses may become liable for costs of investigation and remediation, impacts to human health and for damages to natural resources. These laws often impose strict and joint and several liability without regard to fault or degree of contribution or whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances or whether the conduct giving rise to the release was legal at the time it occurred. We also may be subject to related claims by private parties, including employees, contractors, or the general public, alleging property damage and personal injury due to exposure to hazardous or other materials at or from those properties. We may incur substantial costs or other damages associated with these obligations, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, we rely on third parties to ensure compliance with certain environmental laws, including those relating to the disposal of wastes. Any failure to properly handle or dispose of wastes, regardless of whether such failure is ours or our contractors, could result in liability under environmental, health and safety laws. The value costs of liability could have a material carbon credits and other incentives may also be adversely - adverse effect on affected by legislative, agency, or our judicial determinations business, financial condition or results of operations.** Our operations, and future planned operations, are subject to certain environmental, health and safety laws or permitting requirements, which could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating costs and restrictions. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in substantial fines or other limitations that could adversely impact our financial results or operations. Our operations, as well as our contractors, suppliers, and customers, are subject to certain federal, state, local and foreign environmental, health and safety laws and regulations governing, among other things, the generation, storage, transportation, and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes. We or others in our supply chain may be required to obtain permits and comply with procedures that impose various restrictions and operations that could have adverse

effects on our operations. If key permits and approvals cannot be obtained on acceptable terms, or if other operations requirements cannot be met in a manner satisfactory for our operations or on a timeline that meets our commercial obligations, it may adversely impact our business. There are also significant capital, operating and other costs associated with compliance with these environmental, ~~health and safety~~ laws and regulations. Environmental and health and safety laws and regulations are subject to change and may become more stringent over time, such as through new regulations enacted at the international, national, state, and / or local level or new or modified regulations that may be implemented under existing law. The nature and extent of any changes in these laws, rules, regulations, and permits could have material effects on our business. Future legislation and regulations or changes in existing legislation and regulations, or interpretations thereof, could cause additional expenditures, restrictions, and delays in connection with our operations as well as our other future projects. Future changes to our operations, such as siting of new facilities or the implementation of manufacturing processes at our planned future facilities, could result in increased expenditures to comply with environmental laws, or to obtain and comply with pre-construction and operating permits. For example, federal siting requirements could require us to consider alternative sites for our manufacturing facilities or we could be subject to challenges from stakeholders regarding the use of land for such facilities, which could lead to delays or an inability to construct new facilities. Additionally, future planned operations may create regulated emissions which may require obtaining permits, adhering to permit limits, and / or the use of emissions control technology at our manufacturing facilities. Should permitted limits or other requirements applicable to our current or future operations change in the future, we may be required to install additional, more costly control technology to ensure continued compliance with environmental laws or permits. Any failure to comply with environmental laws could result in significant fines and penalties or business interruptions that could adversely impact our financial results or operations. Transition risks related to climate change could have a material and adverse effects on us. We are committed to a clean energy future and we believe our business is well-positioned to benefit from growing regulatory and policy support for decarbonization and other trends related to climate change. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that these developments may in the future adversely affect the business, our suppliers, and the demand for our product while supporting the development of competing technologies and energy sources. For example, the adoption of legislation or regulatory programs to reduce emissions of **GHGs-greenhouse gases** (including carbon pricing schemes), or the adoption and implementation of regulations that require reporting of **GHG-greenhouse gas** emissions or other climate-related information, could adversely affect our business, including by requiring us or our suppliers to incur increased operating costs, stimulating demand for electric vehicles, restricting our ability to execute on our business strategy, reducing our access to financial markets, or creating greater potential for governmental investigations or litigation. See “Item 1. Business — **Environmental Climate Change, Social-Regulatory Mandates and Government Funding Governance—Sustainability**” for further discussion of the laws and regulations related to **GHGs-greenhouse gases** and climate change. We could incur increased costs and compliance burden relating to the assessment and disclosure of climate-related risks. We may also face increased litigation risks related to disclosures made pursuant to the rule if finalized as proposed. ~~Liabilities and costs associated with hazardous materials, contamination and other environmental conditions may require us to conduct investigations or remediation or expose us to other liabilities, both of which may adversely impact our operations and financial condition. We may incur liabilities for the investigation and cleanup of any environmental contamination at our commercial production plants, or at off-site locations where we arrange for the disposal of hazardous substances or wastes. For example, under CERCLA and other federal, state and local laws, certain broad categories of persons, including an owner or operator of a property, or businesses may become liable for costs of investigation and remediation, impacts to human health and for damages to natural resources. These laws often impose strict and joint and several liability without regard to fault or degree of contribution or whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances or whether the conduct giving rise to the release was legal at the time it occurred. We also may be subject to related claims by private parties, including employees, contractors, or the general public, alleging property damage and personal injury due to exposure to hazardous or other materials at or from those properties. We may incur substantial costs or other damages associated with these obligations, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, we rely on third parties to ensure compliance with certain environmental laws, including those relating to the disposal of wastes. Any failure to properly handle or dispose of wastes, regardless of whether such failure is ours or our contractors, could result in liability under environmental, health and safety laws. The costs of liability could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.~~ Increased focus on sustainability and **or other** ESG matters could impact our operations and expose us to additional risks. Companies across all industries are facing increasing scrutiny from a variety of stakeholders, including investor advocacy groups, proxy advisory firms, certain institutional investors, and lenders, investment funds and other influential investors and rating agencies, related to their ESG and sustainability practices. The success of our business in part depends on customers and financial institutions viewing our business and operations as having a positive ESG profile. Increasing attention to, and societal expectations regarding, climate change, human rights, and other ESG topics may require us to make certain changes to our business operations to satisfy the expectations of customers and financial institutions. Additionally, our customers may be driven to purchase our fuel products due to their own sustainability or ESG commitments, which may entail holding their suppliers — including us — to ESG standards that go beyond compliance with laws and regulations and our ability to comply with such standards. Failure to maintain operations that align with such “beyond compliance” standards may negatively impact our reputation, cause potential customers to not do business with us or otherwise hurt demand for our products. More broadly, if we do not adapt to or comply with investor or other stakeholder expectations and standards on ESG ~~and sustainability~~ matters as they continue to evolve, or if we are perceived to have not responded appropriately or quickly enough to growing concern for ESG and sustainability issues, regardless of whether there is a regulatory or legal requirement to do so, we may suffer from reputational damage and our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, growing interest on the part of stakeholders regarding

sustainability information and growing scrutiny of sustainability- related claims and disclosure has also increased the risk that companies could be perceived as, or accused of, making inaccurate or misleading statements, often referred to as “greenwashing.” Such perception or accusation could damage our reputation and result in litigation or regulatory actions. Further, organizations that provide information to investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for evaluating companies on their approach to ESG matters. Such ratings are used by some investors to inform their investment and voting decisions. **Unfavorable ESG ratings could lead to increased negative investor sentiment toward us and our industry and to the diversion of investment to other industries, which could have a negative impact on our stock price and our access to and costs of capital.** . We may not be able to obtain, or comply with terms and conditions for, government grants, loans, and other incentives for which we may apply for in the future, which may limit our opportunities to expand our business. We anticipate that in the future there will be new opportunities for us to apply for grants, loans, and other federal and state incentives. Our ability to obtain funds or incentives from government sources is subject to the availability of funds under applicable government programs and approval of our applications to participate in such programs. The application process for these programs and other incentives is and will remain highly competitive. We may not be successful in obtaining any of these additional grants, loans, and other incentives. We may in the future fail to comply with the conditions of these incentives, which could cause us to lose funding or negotiate with governmental entities to revise such conditions. We may be unable to find alternative sources of funding to meet our planned capital needs, in which case, our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results could be adversely affected. We may expand our operations globally, which would subject us to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering, trade compliance, economic sanctions and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws may subject us to criminal or civil liability and harm our business, financial condition and / or results of operations. We may also be subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to liability if we violate the controls. If we expand our operations globally, we would be subject to the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, U. S. domestic bribery laws, and other anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws in the countries in which we would conduct business. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies, their employees, and their third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. If we engage in international operations, sales and business with partners and third-party intermediaries to market our products, we may be required to obtain additional permits, licenses, and other regulatory approvals. In addition, we or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. If we engage in international operations, sales and business with the public sector, we can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries, our employees, agents, representatives, contractors, and partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. **We face risks associated with increased geopolitical uncertainty** Failure to protect our intellectual property, inability to enforce our intellectual property rights or loss of our intellectual property rights through costly litigation or administrative proceedings, could adversely affect our ability to compete and our business. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for commercially important inventions, to obtain and maintain know-how related to our business, including **as a result** our proprietary manufacturing technology, to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights, in particular our patent rights, to preserve the confidentiality of **evolving domestic** our trade secrets, and **foreign tariff policies. Ongoing** to operate without infringing, misappropriating, or violating the valid and enforceable patents and **potential military actions across** other -- **the globe** intellectual property rights of third parties. We rely on various intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks, **the ongoing conflicts in Ukraine** and trade secrets **the Middle East**, as well as **the sanctions** confidentiality provisions and contractual arrangements, **bans** and other **measures taken** forms of statutory protection to protect our proprietary rights. We will be able to protect our proprietary rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to **governments, organizations and companies against the involved countries and certain citizens of the those countries in response thereto,** extent that our proprietary technologies and future products are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as **has increased the global political uncertainty** trade secrets. If we do not protect and enforce **has strained the relations between a significant number of governments, including the U. S. The duration and outcome of these conflicts, any retaliatory actions** our -- or escalation intellectual property rights adequately and successfully, **and the impact on regional** our -- or global economies is unknown but competitive position may suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition **and results of its operations.** **In addition**, the current U. S. administration has signaled intentions to substantially alter prior U. S. government international trade policy and has commenced activities to renegotiate, or potentially terminate, certain existing bilateral or multi-lateral trade agreements and treaties with foreign countries. Furthermore, such administration has initiated, or is considering imposing, tariffs on certain foreign goods. Related to this action, certain foreign governments, including China, have instituted, or are considering imposing, tariffs on certain U. S. goods. It remains unclear what the current U. S. administration or foreign governments will or will not do with respect to tariffs or other international trade agreements and policies. A trade war or other governmental action related to tariffs or international trade agreements or policies has the potential to have a material adverse impact on our financial condition by increasing our construction costs and costs to conduct and implement our business plan. Concerns regarding the environmental impact of renewable gasoline production could affect public policy which could impair our ability to operate at a profit and substantially harm our revenues and operating ~~impair our ability to operate at a profit and substantially harm our revenues and operating~~ margins. Under the EISA, the EPA is required to produce a report to Congress every three years of the environmental impacts associated with current and future biofuel production and use, including effects on air and water quality, soil quality and conservation, water availability, energy recovery from secondary materials, ecosystem health and biodiversity, invasive species

and international impacts. The first report to Congress was completed in 2011 and provided an assessment of the environmental and resource conservation impacts associated with increased biofuel production. The second report to Congress, completed in 2018, reaffirmed the overarching conclusions of the first report. **The** A draft of the third report to Congress was published in January 2023-2025. Should such EPA triennial reports, or other analyses find that biofuel production and use has resulted in, or could in the future result in, adverse environmental impacts, such findings could also negatively impact public perception and acceptance of biofuel as an alternative fuel, which also could result in the loss of political support. To the extent that state or federal laws are modified or public perception turns against biofuels **or other renewable fuels**, use requirements such as RFS and LCFS may not continue, which could materially impact our ability to ever operate profitably. **The Company identified material weaknesses** From time to time, we may be involved in its internal control over **litigation, regulatory actions or government investigations and inquiries, which could have an adverse impact on our** financial reporting that have results and consolidated financial position. **We** Our pending patent or trademark applications may not be approved **involved in a variety of litigation**, or competitors or others **other claims** may challenge the validity, enforceability **suits, regulatory actions** or scope of our **or** patents, the registrability of **government investigations and inquiries and commercial** our **or** trademarks or contractual disputes that, from time to time, are significant. In addition, from time to time, we may also be **involved in legal proceedings and investigations arising in the normal course** trade secret status of **business including, without limitation, commercial** our **or** proprietary information **contractual disputes, including warranty claims and other disputes with potential customers, former employees and suppliers, intellectual property matters, personal injury claims, environmental issues, tax matters, and employment matters**. It is difficult to predict the outcome or ultimate financial exposure, if any, represented by these matters, and **There** there can be no assurance that additional patents **any such exposure** will not be issued **material**. Such claims may also negatively affect **or our** that reputation. **Changes in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws** issued patents will provide significant protection for **or our** intellectual property regulations, may adversely affect **or our** for business, investments and results of operations. We are subject to laws and regulations enacted by national, regional and local governments. In particular, we are required to comply with certain SEC and other legal requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws and regulations may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws and regulations and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time and **those changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, investments and results of** portions operations of our proprietary technology and software that are the most key to our competitive positions in the marketplace. In addition, **a failure to comply with applicable laws** our **or** patents **regulations**, as interpreted trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights **applied, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. As a result of plans to expand our business operations, including to jurisdictions in which tax laws** may not provide us a significant competitive advantage. There is no assurance that the forms of intellectual property protection that we seek, including business decisions about when and where to file patents and when and how to maintain and protect trade secrets, license and other contractual rights will be **favorable** adequate to protect our business. Moreover, **our obligations may** recent amendments to developing jurisprudence and current and possible future changes **change** to intellectual property laws and regulations, including U. S. and foreign patent, trade secret and other statutory law, may affect our **or fluctuate** ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our proprietary technology. Despite our precautions, **become** our intellectual property is vulnerable to unauthorized access and copying through employee, contractor or other third-party error or actions, including malicious state or state-sponsored actors, theft, hacking, cybersecurity incidents, and other security breaches and incidents, and such incidents may be difficult to detect or may be unknown for a significant **significantly more complex** period of time. It is possible for **or** third parties **become subject** to infringe upon or misappropriate our intellectual property, to copy or reverse engineer our proprietary manufacturing process, and to use information that we regard as proprietary to create **greater risk of examination by taxing authorities** products and services that compete with ours. Intellectual property laws, procedures, and restrictions provide only limited protection and any of our intellectual property rights may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated. Further, the laws of certain countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and, therefore, in certain jurisdictions, we may be unable to protect our proprietary technology. Effective patent, trademark and other intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which our services are made available. To..... could incur significant costs and expenses that could adversely affect our **after- tax profitability and financial results. Our effective tax rates may fluctuate widely in the future, particularly if our** business expands domestically or internationally. Future effective tax rates could be affected by operating losses in **jurisdictions where no tax benefit can be recorded under U. S. GAAP**, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws. Factors that could materially affect our future effective tax rates include, but are not limited to: (a) changes in tax laws or the regulatory environment, (b) changes in accounting and tax standards or practices, (c) changes in the composition of operating income by tax jurisdiction and (d) pre- tax operating results of **or our** business financial condition. **Additionally** We have entered into confidentiality agreements with certain contractors and consultants as well as agreements containing restrictive covenants and confidentiality provisions with certain employees, and we may **be subject to significant income, withholding, enter into agreements with similar provisions with our employees and with other third parties tax obligations** in the future. We cannot ensure that these **the United States** agreements, or all the terms thereof..... choose **not to pursue enforcement because an** and may become subject **infringer has a dominant intellectual property position, because of uncertainty relating to taxation in numerous** the scope of our intellectual property or the outcome of an enforcement action, or for other business reasons. In addition **additional U. S. state and local and**, competitors might avoid infringement by designing around our intellectual property rights or by developing non- **U** infringing competing technologies. Litigation brought **S. jurisdictions with respect to protect income, operations and enforce our intellectual property rights subsidiaries related to those jurisdictions. Our after- tax profitability and financial results** could be costly **subject to volatility or be affected by**

numerous factors, time including (a) the availability of tax deductions, credits, exemptions, refunds and other benefits to reduce tax liabilities, (b) changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if any, (c) the expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances, (d) the tax treatment of stock - consuming based compensation, and distracting (e) changes in the relative amount of earnings subject to management and tax in the various jurisdictions, (f) the potential business expansion into, our- or development teams otherwise becoming subject to tax in, additional jurisdictions, (g) changes to existing intercompany structure (and any costs related thereto) and business operations, (h) the extent of intercompany transactions and the extent to which taxing authorities in relevant jurisdictions respect those intercompany transactions and (i) the ability to structure business operations in and- an efficient and competitive manner. Outcomes from audits could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our- or examinations intellectual property. Further, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims attacking the scope, validity, and enforceability of our intellectual property rights, or with counterclaims and countersuits asserting infringement by taxing authorities us of third- party intellectual property rights. Our failure to secure, protect, and enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and our business, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, after- tax profitability and financial condition. Additionally, the U. S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and several foreign tax authorities have increasingly focused attention on intercompany transfer pricing with respect to sales of products and services and the use of intangibles. Tax authorities could disagree with our intercompany charges, cross- jurisdictional transfer pricing or other matters and assess additional taxes. If we do not prevail in any such disagreements, our financial results may be affected. Our after- tax profitability and financial results may also be adversely affected by changes in relevant tax laws and tax rates, treaties, regulations, administrative practices and principles, judicial decisions and interpretations thereof, in each case, possibly with retroactive effect. Changes in tax laws or the imposition of new or increased taxes may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We are a U. S. corporation and thus are subject to U. S. corporate income tax on our worldwide income. Further, our operations and customers will be located in the United States, and, as a result, we will be subject to various U. S. federal, state and local taxes. U. S. federal, state and local and non- U. S. tax laws, policies, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us and may have and- an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, in the United States, several tax law changes have been previously proposed that would, if ultimately enacted, impact the U. S. federal income taxation of corporations. Such proposals have included an increase in the U. S. income tax rate applicable to corporations (such as us) from 21 % to 28 %. It is unclear whether this, similar or other changes will be enacted and, if enacted, how soon any such changes could take effect, and we cannot predict how any future changes in tax laws might affect us. Additionally, states in which we operate or own assets may impose new or increased taxes. Changes in tax laws or the imposition of new or increased taxes could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The new 1 % U. S. federal excise tax on repurchases of corporate stock included in the IR Act could cause a reduction in the value of our Class A Common Stock. On August 16, 2022, the IR Act was signed into law. The IR Act provides for, among other changes, a new 1 % U. S. federal excise tax on certain repurchases of stock by publicly traded U. S. corporations after December 31, 2022. The excise tax is imposed on the repurchasing corporation itself, not on its stockholders from whom the shares are repurchased. The amount of the excise tax is generally 1 % of any positive difference between the fair market value of any shares repurchased by the repurchasing corporation during a taxable year and the fair market value of certain new stock issuances by the repurchasing corporation during the same taxable year. In addition, a number of exceptions will apply to this excise tax. The U. S. Department of the Treasury (the “Treasury”) has been given authority to provide regulations and other guidance to carry out, and prevent the abuse or avoidance of, this excise tax. Risks Related to Management and Our Employees If we lose key personnel, including key management personnel, or are unable to attract and retain additional personnel, it could delay our development and harm our research, make it more difficult to pursue partnerships or develop our own products or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business. Our business is complex and we intend to target a variety of markets. Therefore, it is critical that our management team and employee workforce are knowledgeable in the areas in which we operate. The departure, illness or absence of any key members of our management, including our named executive officers, or the failure to attract or retain other key employees who possess the requisite expertise for the conduct of our business, could prevent us from developing and commercializing our renewable gasoline for our target markets and entering into partnership arrangements to execute our business strategy. In addition, the loss of any key scientific staff, or the failure to attract or retain other key scientific employees, could prevent us from developing and commercializing our renewable gasoline for our target markets and entering into partnership arrangements to execute our business strategy. Certain key members of management have entered into employment agreements, which can be terminated by either party, subject to post- termination obligations. All other employees are at- will employees, meaning that either the employee or we may terminate their employment at any time. We also engage a number of individuals as independent contractors to provide certain material scientific and engineering services. The failure to retain access to the services provided by these individuals, or to attract and retain individuals to provide consulting or other services, could also delay or prevent us from developing and commercializing our renewable gasoline for our target markets and entering into partnership arrangements to execute our business strategy, and otherwise executing on our business plans. Our management team has limited experience in operating executing on our business plans. Our management team has limited experience in operating a public company. Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effectively manage our operations to comply with the regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of

knowledge, experience, and training in the policies, practices or internal controls over financial reporting required of public companies in the United States. As a result, we may be required to pay higher outside legal, accounting or consulting costs than our competitors, and our management team members may have to devote a higher proportion of their time to issues relating to compliance with the laws applicable to public companies, both of which might put us at a disadvantage relative to competitors.

**We are a “controlled company” under the meaning of Nasdaq Capital Market rules and, as a result, do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that we engage, and as a result, you do not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that we engage.** **The loss of our senior management or technical personnel could adversely affect our ability to successfully operate our business. While the success of the Company is dependent upon, along with the other factors, the service of our executive officers and additional employees that we engage, there is no assurance that key personnel will continue with the Company. The loss of the services of our senior management or technical personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company believes that the future success will depend in large part of its ability to attract and retain qualified management and technical personnel, and there can be no assurance that such personnel can be attracted and retained.** Agreements containing confidentiality provisions and restrictive covenants with employees, contractors, consultants and other third- parties may not adequately prevent disclosures of trade secrets and other proprietary information. We rely in part on trade secret protection to protect our confidential and proprietary information and processes. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We have taken measures to protect our trade secrets and proprietary information, but these measures may not be effective. We generally require our employees, consultants and contractors to enter into confidentiality agreements with us. We cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party who has developed intellectual property on our behalf and each party that has or may have had access to our confidential information, know- how and trade secrets. We intend for new employees, consultants and other third parties to execute confidentiality agreements or agreements containing confidentiality provisions upon the commencement of an employment or consulting arrangement with us. These agreements generally require that all confidential information developed by the individual or made known to the individual by us during the course of the individual’ s relationship with us be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties. These agreements also generally provide that know- how and inventions conceived by the individual in the course of rendering services to us shall be our exclusive property. Nevertheless, these agreements may be insufficient or breached, or may not be enforceable, our proprietary information may be disclosed, third parties could reverse engineer our biocatalysts and others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets. Moreover, these agreements may not provide an adequate remedy for breaches or in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information or technology. Costly and time- consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position. In addition, trade secrets and know- how can be difficult to protect and some courts inside and outside of the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets and know- how. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would not be able to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us, and our competitive position could be materially and adversely harmed. An unauthorized breach in our information technology systems may expose our trade secrets and other proprietary information to unauthorized parties. **Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends..... financial condition, and operating results.** We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information or alleged trade secrets of third parties or competitors or are in breach of noncompetition or non- solicitation agreements with our competitors or their former employers. We also may employ or otherwise engage personnel who were previously or are concurrently employed or engaged at research institutions or other clean technology companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We may be subject to claims that these personnel, or we, have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former or concurrent employers, or that patents and applications we have filed to protect inventions of these personnel, even those related to our technology, are rightfully owned by their former or concurrent employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could adversely affect our operations, result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. **Our business and prospects depend significantly on..... may also negatively affect our reputation.** Risks Related to the Company **Ownership of Our Securities and Our Capital Structure** Future sales and issuances **of shares** of our Class A Common Stock could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our share price to fall. We expect that significant additional capital will be needed in the future to pursue our growth plan. To raise capital, we may sell shares of our Class A Common Stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell shares of our Class A Common Stock, convertible securities or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. Such sales may also result in material dilution to our existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights, preferences, and privileges senior to existing holders of our Class A Common Stock. Future sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A Common Stock, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares of Class A Common Stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our Class A Common Stock. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A Common Stock in the public market could occur at any time as substantially all of our shares of Class A Common Stock are eligible to be sold pursuant to Rule 144, subject to volume limitations. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares of Class A Common Stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our Class A Common Stock. **We may issue additional shares of Class A Common Stock under an employee incentive plan. Any such issuances would dilute the interest of our stockholders and likely present other risks. We may issue a substantial number of additional shares of Class A Common**

**Stock under an employee incentive plan. The issuance of additional shares of common or preferred stock: • may significantly dilute the equity interests of our investors; • may subordinate the rights of holders of Class A Common Stock if preferred stock is issued with rights senior to those afforded our Class A Common Stock; • could cause a change in control if a substantial number of shares of our Class A Common Stock are issued, which may affect, among other things, our ability to use our net operating loss of our senior management or technical personnel carry forwards, if any, and could result in the resignation or removal of our present officers and directors; and • may adversely affect prevailing market prices** our ability to successfully operate our business. While the success of the Company is dependent upon, along with other factors, the service of our executive officers and additional employees that we engage, there is no assurance that key personnel will continue with the Company. The loss of the services of our senior management or **for** technical personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company believes that the future success will depend in large part of its ability to attract and retain qualified management and technical personnel, and there can be no assurance that such personnel can be attracted and retained. There are inherent limitations in all control systems, and misstatements due to error or **our Class** fraud that could seriously harm our business may occur and not be detected. Our management does not expect that our internal and disclosure controls will prevent all possible error and all fraud. A **Common Stock** control system, no matter how well..... theft, data corruption, operational disruption and / or **Public Warrants** financial loss. We depend on digital technologies, including information systems, infrastructure and cloud applications and services, including those of third parties with which we may deal. Sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, our systems or infrastructure, or the systems or infrastructure of third parties or the cloud, could lead to corruption or misappropriation of our assets, proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data. As an early-stage company without significant investments in data security protection, we may not be sufficiently protected against such occurrences. We may not have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber incidents. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss. We are also dependent, in part, upon Intermediate's information. A failure in the security of Intermediate's information systems could seriously harm our business and results of operations. Holdings owns the majority of our voting stock and has the right to appoint a majority of our board members, and our interests may conflict with those of other stockholders. Holdings owns the majority of our voting stock and is entitled to appoint the majority of our Board. As a result, Holdings is able to substantially influence matters requiring our stockholder or board approval, including the election of directors, approval of any potential acquisition of us, changes to our organizational documents and significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership makes it unlikely that any other holder or group of holders of Class A Common Stock will be able to affect the way we are managed or the direction of our business. The interests of Holdings with respect to matters potentially or actually involving or affecting us, such as future acquisitions, financings and other corporate opportunities and attempts to acquire us, may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders. For example, Holdings may have different tax positions from us, especially in light of the Tax Receivable Agreement, that could influence our decisions regarding whether and when to support the disposition of assets, **a change of control transaction**, the incurrence or refinancing of new or existing indebtedness, or the termination of the Tax Receivable Agreement and acceleration of our obligations thereunder. In addition, the determination of future tax reporting positions, the structuring of future transactions and the handling of any challenge by any taxing authority to our tax reporting positions may take into consideration tax or other considerations of Holdings, including the effect of such positions on our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which may differ from the considerations of ours or other stockholders. **Cottonmouth owns a significant percentage of our Class A Common Stock following the consummation of the PIPE Investment and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval. As a result of the consummation of the PIPE Investment in January 2025, Cottonmouth became our second largest stockholder and beneficially owns a significant percentage of our Class A Common Stock. As a result, Cottonmouth will have significant influence over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, approval of any potential acquisition of us, changes to our organizational documents and significant corporate transactions. In addition, pursuant to the Company's fifth amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the "Restated Charter") adopted in connection with the consummation of the PIPE Investment, the size of our Board of Directors was increased from seven directors to eight directors, and our Board appointed a designee of Cottonmouth to fill the newly created vacancy and to serve on our Board as a Class I director. Further, so long as Cottonmouth and its affiliates beneficially own at least 10 % of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company, we will have the obligation to support the nomination of, and to cause our Board to include in the slate of nominees recommended to our stockholders for election, one individual designated by Cottonmouth, subject to customary conditions and exceptions, as well as the obligation to designate one individual as an observer to attend all meetings of the Board and all meetings of the committees of our Board as a nonvoting observer, subject to customary conditions and exceptions. As a result, Cottonmouth will be able to influence matters requiring our stockholder or Board approval. The interests of Cottonmouth, or our other principal stockholders, with respect to matters potentially or actually involving or affecting us, such as the election of directors, approval of any potential acquisition of us, changes to our organizational documents and significant corporate transactions, may not be the same as, and may even conflict with the interests of our other stockholders. The significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect the per-share trading price of our Class A Common Stock due to investors' perception that conflicts of interest may exist or arise.** We may amend the terms of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants** in a manner that may be adverse to holders of Public Warrants with the approval by the holders of at least 50 % of the then-outstanding Public Warrants. As a result, the exercise price and the exercise period of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants** could be changed and the number of shares of our Class A Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of a ~~warrant~~

**Warrant** could be decreased, all without a holder's approval. Our Public Warrants were issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us. The warrant agreement provides that the terms of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants** may be amended without the consent of any holder (i) to cure any ambiguity or to correct any mistake, including to conform the provisions therein to the descriptions of the terms of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants**, or to cure, correct or supplement any defective provision, or (ii) to add or change any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the warrant agreement as the parties to the warrant agreement may deem necessary or desirable and that the parties deem to not adversely affect the interests of the registered holders of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants**. The warrant agreement requires the approval by the holders of at least 50 % of the then- outstanding Public Warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of Public Warrants. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the Public Warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50 % of the then- outstanding Public Warrants approve of such amendment. Although our ability to amend the terms of the Public Warrants with the consent of at least 50 % of the then- outstanding Public Warrants is unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments to, among other things, increase or decrease of the exercise price of the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants**, convert the ~~warrants~~ **Warrants** into cash or stock (at a ratio different than initially provided), shorten the exercise period or decrease the number of shares of our Class A Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of a ~~warrant~~ **Warrant**. There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq. Our shares of Class A Common Stock and the Public Warrants are listed on Nasdaq under the symbols " VGAS " and " VGASW, " respectively. If Nasdaq delists our securities from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the continued listing standards, we and our stockholders could face significant negative consequences. The consequences of failing to meet the listing requirements include: ● a limited availability of market quotations for our securities; ● reduced liquidity for our securities; ● a determination that our Class A Common Stock is a " penny stock " which will require brokers trading in our Class A Common Stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our securities; ● a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and ● a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future. Because there are no current plans to pay cash dividends on shares of **Class A** Common Stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell your shares of **Class A** Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and there are no current plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends on shares of **Class A** Common Stock will be at the sole discretion of our board, who may take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory restrictions, implications on the payment of dividends by us to our its stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other factors our board may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is ~~is~~ **will likely be** limited by covenants of any indebtedness we incur. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in the shares of Class A Common Stock unless you sell your shares of Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it. The trading price of our securities is limited and volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. There is a limited market for our securities and there can be no assurance that such a market for our securities will continue. The trading price of our securities has been and may continue to be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors ~~(during the last 52 week period, range of trading has fluctuated from a high of \$ 18.30 per share to a low of \$ 1.95 per share)~~, some of which are beyond our control. **Any In connection with the PIPE Investment, we issued shares of Class A Common Stock to Cottonmouth at a price of \$ 4.00 per share and this pricing may impact future trading prices of shares of our Class A Common Stock. Additionally, any** of the factors listed below could have a material adverse effect on your investment in our securities and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for them. In such circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline. Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include: ● actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us; ● changes in the market's expectations about our operating results; ● success of competitors; ● our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period; ● changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning us or the market in general; ● operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us; ● our ability to market new ~~and or~~ enhanced products and technologies on a timely basis; ● changes in laws and regulations affecting our business; ● our ability to meet compliance requirements; ● commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us; ● changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances ~~and pricings~~ of securities or the incurrence of additional debt; ● the volume of shares of our ~~Class A common Common stock~~ **Class A common Common Stock** available for public sale; ● any major change in our Board or management; ● sales of substantial amounts of ~~Class A common Common stock~~ **Class A common Common stock** **Stock** by our directors, executive officers or significant stockholders or the perception that such sales could occur; ● ~~and~~ ● general economic and political conditions such as recessions, ~~tariffs~~, interest rates, ~~inflation~~, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations and acts of war (such as the Russia- Ukraine conflict and the conflict in the Middle East) or terrorism. Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating performance. The stock market in general and ~~the Nasdaq Stock Market~~ have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for retail stocks or the stocks of other companies which investors perceive to be similar to us could depress our stock price regardless of our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. A decline in the market price of our securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future. If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they change their recommendations

regarding our **Class A common Common stock Stock** adversely, the price and trading volume of our **Class A common Common stock Stock** could decline. The trading market for our shares of Class A Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of our shares of Class A Common Stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease their coverage or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. ~~Changes in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws or regulations, may adversely affect our business, investments and results of operations. We are subject to laws and regulations enacted by national, regional and local governments. In particular, we are required to comply with certain SEC and other legal requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws and regulations may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws and regulations and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time and those changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, investments and results of operations. In addition, a failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations, as interpreted and applied, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. As a result of plans to expand our business operations, including to jurisdictions in which tax laws may not be favorable, our obligations may change or fluctuate, become significantly more complex or become subject to greater risk of examination by taxing authorities, any of which could adversely affect our after-tax profitability and financial results. Our effective tax rates may fluctuate widely in the future, particularly if our business expands domestically or internationally. Future effective tax rates could be affected by operating losses in jurisdictions where no tax benefit can be recorded under GAAP, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws. Factors that could materially affect our future effective tax rates include, but are not limited to: (a) changes in tax laws or the regulatory environment, (b) changes in accounting and tax standards or practices, (c) changes in the composition of operating income by tax jurisdiction and (d) pre-tax operating results of our business. Additionally, we may be subject to significant income, withholding, and other tax obligations in the United States and may become subject to taxation in numerous additional U. S. state and local and non-U. S. jurisdictions with respect to income, operations and subsidiaries related to those jurisdictions. Our after-tax profitability and financial results could be subject to volatility or be affected by numerous factors, including (a) the availability of tax deductions, credits, exemptions, refunds and other benefits to reduce tax liabilities, (b) changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if any, (c) the expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances, (d) the tax treatment of stock-based compensation, (e) changes in the relative amount of earnings subject to tax in the various jurisdictions, (f) the potential business expansion into, or otherwise becoming subject to tax in, additional jurisdictions, (g) changes to existing intercompany structure (and any costs related thereto) and business operations, (h) the extent of intercompany transactions and the extent to which taxing authorities in relevant jurisdictions respect those intercompany transactions and (i) the ability to structure business operations in an efficient and competitive manner. Outcomes from audits or examinations by taxing authorities could have an adverse effect on our after-tax profitability and financial condition. Additionally, the U. S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and several foreign tax authorities have increasingly focused attention on intercompany transfer pricing with respect to sales of products and services and the use of intangibles. Tax authorities could disagree with our intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictional transfer pricing or other matters and assess additional taxes. If we do not prevail in any such disagreements, our financial results may be affected. Our after-tax profitability and financial results may also be adversely affected by changes in relevant tax laws and tax rates, treaties, regulations, administrative practices and principles, judicial decisions and interpretations thereof, in each case, possibly with retroactive effect. We are a holding company, and our only material asset is our equity interest in OpCo, and we will accordingly be dependent upon distributions from OpCo to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and cover our corporate and other overhead expenses. We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our equity interest in OpCo. We have no independent means of generating revenue. To the extent OpCo has available cash, we intend to cause OpCo to make (i) generally pro rata distributions to the holders of OpCo Units, including us, in an amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay our taxes and make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and any subsequent tax receivable agreement that we may enter into in connection with future acquisitions and (ii) non-pro rata payments to us to reimburse us for our corporate and other overhead expenses. To the extent that we need funds and OpCo or its subsidiaries are restricted from making such distributions or payments under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any current or future financing arrangements, or are otherwise unable to provide such funds, our liquidity and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Moreover, because we have no independent means of generating revenue, our ability to make tax payments and payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be dependent on the ability of OpCo to make distributions to us in an amount sufficient to cover our tax obligations (and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries) and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. This ability, in turn, may depend on the ability of OpCo's subsidiaries to make distributions to it. We intend that such distributions from OpCo and its subsidiaries be funded with cash from operations or from future borrowings. The ability of OpCo, its subsidiaries and other entities in which it directly or indirectly holds an equity interest to make such distributions will be subject to, among other things, (i) the applicable provisions of Delaware law (or other applicable jurisdiction) that may limit the amount of funds available for distribution and (ii) restrictions in relevant debt instruments issued by OpCo or its subsidiaries and other entities in which it directly or indirectly holds an equity interest. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. **In the event that We will be required to make payments - payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement for are accelerated in connection with certain mergers tax benefits that it may claim, and the other amounts-forms of such payments-business combinations or other changes of control, the consideration payable to holders of our Class A Common Stock could be significant substantially reduced**. In connection with the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable~~

Agreement with the TRA Holders. This agreement generally provides for the payment by us to the TRA Holders of 85 % of the net cash savings, if any, in U. S. federal, state and local income tax and franchise tax (computed using simplifying assumptions to address the impact of state and local taxes) that we actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the Business Combination as a result of certain increases in tax basis available to us pursuant to the exercise of the OpCo Exchange Right, a Mandatory Exchange or the Call Right and certain benefits attributable to imputed interest. We will retain the benefit of the remaining 15 % of any actual net cash tax savings. The term of the Tax Receivable Agreement will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement have been utilized or expired, unless we experience a change of control (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement, which includes certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations) or the Tax Receivable Agreement otherwise terminates early (at our election or as a result of our breach or the commencement of bankruptcy or similar proceedings by or against us), and we make the termination payments specified in the Tax Receivable Agreement in connection with such change of control or other early termination. ~~The payment obligations are our, which includes certain mergers, asset sales and other forms of business combinations ) and not obligations of OpCo, and we expect~~ **we would be obligated to make a substantial immediate lump-sum payment, and such payment may be significantly in advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the payment relates; provided that any such payment would be subject to the Payment Cap of \$ 50, 000, 000, which applies only to certain** payments required to be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement ~~will be substantial. Estimating the amount..... to certain payments required to be made~~ in connection with the occurrence of a change of control. The Payment Cap would not be reduced or offset by any amounts previously paid under the Tax Receivable Agreement or any amounts that are required to be paid (but have not yet been paid) for the year in which the change of control occurs or any prior years. ~~other~~ wrongdoing by, any current or former director, officer, employee or agent of ours to us or our stockholders, or a claim of aiding and abetting any such breach of fiduciary duty, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any director, officer, employee or agent of ours arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“ DGCL ”), the Charter or the Bylaws (as either may be amended, restated, modified, supplemented or waived from time to time), (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of the Charter or the Bylaws (as either may be amended, restated, modified, supplemented or waived from time to time), (v) any action asserting a claim against us or any director, officer, employee or agent of ours that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine or (vi) any action asserting an “ internal corporate claim ” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL. In addition, the Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Charter provides that the exclusive forum provision will not apply to claims seeking to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the U.S. federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur **additional** Any distributions made by OpCo to us in order to enable us to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, as well as any corresponding pro rata distributions made to the OpCo unitholders, could have an adverse impact on our liquidity. The payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will not be conditioned upon a TRA Holder having a continued ownership interest in us or OpCo. ~~In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated and / or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if any, we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement.~~ If we experience a change of control (as defined under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which includes certain mergers, asset sales and other forms of business combinations) or the Tax Receivable Agreement otherwise terminates early (at our election or as a result of our breach or the commencement of bankruptcy or similar proceedings by or against us), our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement would accelerate and we would be required to make an immediate payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by it under the Tax Receivable Agreement and such payment is expected to be substantial. The calculation of anticipated future payments would be based upon certain assumptions and deemed events set forth in the Tax Receivable Agreement, including (i) that we have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the tax benefits covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement, and (ii) that any OpCo Units (other than those held by us) outstanding on the termination date are deemed to be redeemed on the termination date. If we were to experience a change of control, we estimate that the early termination payment, calculated on the basis of the above assumptions, would be approximately \$ 32 million (calculated using a discount rate equal to (i) the greater of (A) 0. 25 % and (B) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR ”), plus (ii) 150 basis points, applied against an undiscounted liability of \$ 48 million based on the 21 % U. S. federal corporate income tax rate and estimated applicable state and local income tax rates). The foregoing amount is merely an estimate and the actual payment could differ materially. In connection with a change of control, any early termination payment would be subject to the Payment Cap ~~of \$ 50, 000, 000~~. The Payment Cap would not be reduced or offset by any amounts previously paid under the Tax Receivable Agreement or any amounts that are required to be paid (but have not yet been paid) for the year in which the change of control occurs or any prior years. Any early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the termination payment relates. Moreover, the obligation to make an early termination payment upon a change of control could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of

control. There can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. ~~In the event that payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are accelerated in connection with certain mergers, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control, the consideration payable to holders of our Class A Common Stock could be substantially reduced. If we experience a change of control (as defined under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which includes certain mergers, asset sales and other forms of business combinations), we would be obligated to make a substantial immediate lump-sum payment, and such payment may be significantly in advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the payment relates; provided that any such payment would be subject to the Payment Cap of \$ 50, 000, 000, which applies only to certain payments required to be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement in connection with the occurrence of a change of control. The Payment Cap would not be reduced or offset by any amounts previously paid under the Tax Receivable Agreement or any amounts that are required to be paid (but have not yet been paid) for the year in which the change of control occurs or any prior years. As a result of this payment obligation, holders of our Class A Common Stock could receive substantially less consideration in connection with a change of control transaction than they would receive in the absence of such obligation. Further, any payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement will not be conditioned upon the TRA Holders' having a continued interest in us or OpCo. Accordingly, the TRA Holders' interests may conflict with those of the holders of our Class A Common Stock. Please read " Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Company — In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated and /or significantly exceed the actual benefits, if any, we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement."~~ We will not be reimbursed for any payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement in the event that any tax benefits are subsequently disallowed. Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that we will determine. The IRS or another taxing authority may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement, as well as other related tax positions we take, and a court could sustain such challenge. The TRA Holders will not reimburse us for any payments previously made under the Tax Receivable Agreement if any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are subsequently disallowed, except that excess payments made to any TRA Holder will be netted against future payments that would otherwise be made to such TRA Holder, if any, after our determination of such excess (which determination may be made a number of years following the initial payment and after future payments have been made). As a result, in such circumstances, we could make payments that are greater than our actual cash tax savings, if any, and we may not be able to recoup those payments, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity. If OpCo were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax purposes, we and OpCo might be subject to potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and we would not be able to recover payments previously made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement even if the corresponding tax benefits were subsequently determined to have been unavailable due to such status. We intend to operate such that OpCo does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax purposes. A " publicly traded partnership " is a partnership the interests of which are traded on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. Under certain circumstances, the exchange of Class C OpCo Units pursuant to the OpCo Exchange Right or Mandatory Exchange (or acquisitions of Class C OpCo Units pursuant to the Call Right) or other transfers of Class C OpCo Units could cause OpCo to be treated as a publicly traded partnership. Applicable U. S. Treasury regulations provide for certain safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded partnership, and we intend to operate such that redemptions or other transfers of OpCo Units qualify for one or more of such safe harbors. For example, we limited the number of holders of OpCo Units, and the OpCo operating agreement (" A & R LLC Agreement "), provides for certain limitations on the ability of holders of OpCo Units to transfer their OpCo Units and provides us, as the manager of OpCo, with the right to prohibit the exercise of an OpCo Exchange Right if it determines (based on the advice of counsel) there is a material risk that OpCo would be a publicly traded partnership as a result of such exercise. If OpCo were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U. S. federal income tax purposes, significant tax inefficiencies might result for us and for OpCo, including as a result of our inability to file a consolidated U. S. federal income tax return with OpCo. In addition, we might not be able to realize tax benefits covered under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and we would not be able to recover any payments previously made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement, even if the corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the tax basis of OpCo' s assets) were subsequently determined to have been unavailable. **Risks Related to Financial and Accounting Matters The Company identified material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting that have been remediated, and if we are unable to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results, and we may face litigation as a result. In connection with certain circumstances, OpCo will be required to make tax distributions to the preparation of Intermediate OpCo unitholders, including us, and the tax distributions that OpCo will be required to make may be substantial. The OpCo tax distribution requirement may complicate our ability to maintain our intended capital structure. OpCo will generally make quarterly tax distributions to the OpCo unitholders, including us. Such distributions will be pro rata and be in an amount sufficient to cause each OpCo unitholder to receive a distribution at least equal to (i) such OpCo unitholder' s allocable share of net taxable income financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the period from July 31, 2020 (inception) to December 31, 2021, management noted a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as described in the Company' s quarterly report on Form 10- Q for the period ended March 31,2023.Management did not maintain effective internal control over the reconciliation of the final fair value of the unit- based compensation awards prepared by third party valuation specialists to the accounting records due to a lack of professionals with defined roles within the accounting function providing financial reporting oversight.Additionally,management did not maintain effective internal control regarding the date on which to apply new accounting standards based upon CENAC' s elections made under the JOBS Act,as described in**

the Company's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2023, which required Intermediate to apply new accounting standards as if it were a public business entity. These material weaknesses have been remediated. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that ~~there the~~ **there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud, and material weaknesses could limit the ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements. In such a case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of each OpCo unit holder periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange continued listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting, our securities price may decline and we may face litigation as a result. While we have remediated the material weaknesses described above, other— there can be no assurance than that us the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses. There are inherent limitations in all control systems, and misstatements due to error or fraud that could seriously harm our business may occur and not be detected. Our management does not expect that our internal and disclosure controls will prevent all possible error and all fraud.** A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. In addition, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefit of controls must be relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, an evaluation of controls can only provide reasonable assurance that all material control issues and instances of fraud, if any, ~~in we~~ have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision- ~~making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Further, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons or by collusion of two or more persons. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design taking making~~ **making into account prior normal operating pro rata distributions made can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Further, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons or by collusion of two** such OpCo unit holders ~~or more persons. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon~~ such year and calculated under certain assumptions ~~about the likelihood of future events, and (ii) persons. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of inherent limitations in a cost- effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. A failure of our controls and procedures to detect error or fraud could seriously harm our business and results of operations. Cyber incidents~~ **If our estimates or attacks directed at us judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect or financial reporting standards or interpretations change, our operating results could result be adversely affected. The preparation of financial statements in conformity** information theft, data- ~~with U. S. GAAP respect to us, any payments required~~ **requires management to be made make by us estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the Tax Receivable Agreement circumstances, as described in the section titled " Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. " The results of these estimates form the basis or for any similar subsequent tax receivable agreements making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity as of the date of the financial statements, and the amount of revenue and expenses, during the periods presented, that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant** it may enter into in connection with future acquisitions (in each case, calculated under certain assumptions ~~) multiplied by an and estimates used in preparing our financial statements include~~ assumed tax rate. The assumed tax rate for this purpose will be the ~~those related~~ combined maximum U. S. federal, state, and local rate of tax applicable to us for the applicable taxable year unless otherwise determined by OpCo **impairment of intangible and long-lived assets, and share- based compensation . As a Our operating result results of certain may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ** in calculating the tax distribution payments, we may receive tax distributions from OpCo in excess of its actual tax liability and its obligations under the ~~those in~~ Tax Receivable Agreement. The receipt of such excess distributions would complicate our ~~assumptions~~ ability to maintain certain aspects of our capital structure. Such cash, ~~which if retained, could cause~~ **our operating results** the value of a Class A OpCo Unit to deviate from ~~fall below~~ the value ~~expectations of industry or financial analysts and investors, resulting in a share decline in the trading price of our~~ Class A Common Stock. ~~Additionally If we retain such cash balances, the holders of Class C OpCo Units would benefit from any value attributable we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and review new pronouncements and drafts thereof that are relevant to us. As such accumulated cash balances as a result of new standards, changes to existing standards, and changes in interpretation, we might be required to change our accounting policies, alter our operational policies, or implement new or enhance existing systems so that they reflect new or amended financial reporting standards, or we may be required to restate our published financial statements. Changes to existing standards or changes in their interpretation exercise of the OpCo Exchange Right,..... modified or applied adversely to us and may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, and profit, or cause an adverse deviation from our revenue and operating profit target, which may negatively impact our financial results.~~ We may in the future use hedging arrangements to mitigate certain risks, but the use of such derivative instruments could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. We are likely in the future to use interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk. In addition, we may use forward energy sales and other types of hedging contracts, including foreign currency hedges if we do expand into other countries. If we elect to enter into these type of hedging arrangements, our related assets could recognize

financial losses on these arrangements as a result of volatility in the market values of the underlying asset or if a counterparty fails to perform under a contract. If actively quoted market prices and pricing information from external sources are not available, the valuation of these contracts would involve judgment or the use of estimates. As a result, changes in the underlying assumptions or use of alternative valuation methods could affect the reported fair value of these contracts. If the values of these financial contracts change in a manner that we do not anticipate, or if a counterparty fails to perform under a contract, it could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Business interruptions, including those related to the widespread outbreak of an illness, pandemic (such as COVID-19) financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, **Risks Related to Information Technology, Intellectual Property** in the United States, several tax law changes have been previously proposed that would, if ultimately enacted, impact the U. S. federal income taxation of corporations. Such proposals have included an **and Cybersecurity Failure** increase in the U. S. income tax rate applicable to **protect** corporations (such as us) from 21 % to 28 %. It is unclear whether this, similar or **our intellectual property** other changes will be enacted and, **inability to enforce** if enacted, how soon any such changes could take effect, and we cannot predict how any future changes in tax laws might affect us. Additionally, states in which we operate or **our** own assets may impose new **intellectual property rights or loss of or our intellectual property rights through costly litigation** increased taxes. Changes in tax laws or **administrative proceedings**, the imposition of new or increased taxes could adversely affect our **ability to compete and our business**. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for commercially important inventions, to obtain and maintain know-how related to our business, including our proprietary manufacturing technology, to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights, in particular our patent rights, to preserve the confidentiality of our trade secrets, and to operate without infringing, misappropriating, or violating the valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. We rely on various intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks, and trade secrets, as well as confidentiality provisions and contractual arrangements, and other forms of statutory protection to protect our proprietary rights. We will be able to protect our proprietary rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that our proprietary technologies and future products are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. If we do not protect and enforce our intellectual property rights adequately and successfully, our competitive position may suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results of operations and cash flows. **Our pending patent** The new 1 % U. S. federal excise tax on repurchases of corporate stock included in the IR Act could cause a reduction in the value of our **or trademark applications may not be approved** Class A Common Stock. On August 16, 2022, **or competitors or others may challenge** the IR Act was signed into law **validity, enforceability, or scope of our patents, the registrability of our trademarks or the trade secret status of our proprietary information**. The **There IR Act can be no assurance that additional patents will be issued or that any issued patents will provide** **provide significant protection for our intellectual property or for those**, among other changes, a new 1 % U. S. federal excise tax on certain repurchases of stock by publicly traded U. S. corporations **portions of our proprietary technology and software that** after December 31, 2022. The excise tax is imposed on the repurchasing corporation itself, not on its stockholders from whom the shares are repurchased. The amount of the **most key to our competitive positions in** excise tax is generally 1 % of any positive difference between the **marketplace** fair market value of any shares repurchased by the repurchasing corporation during a taxable year and the fair market value of certain new stock issuances by the repurchasing corporation during the same taxable year. In addition, **our patents, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights may not provide us** a number **significant competitive advantage**. There is no assurance that the forms of exceptions **intellectual property protection that we seek, including business decisions about when and where to file patents and when and how to maintain and protect trade secrets, license and other contractual rights will apply be adequate to this excise tax protect our business**. The **Moreover, recent amendments to developing jurisprudence and current and possible future changes to intellectual property laws and regulations, including U. S. and foreign Department** **patent of, trade secret and the other Treasury** (statutory law, may affect our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our proprietary technology. Despite our precautions, our intellectual property is vulnerable to unauthorized access and copying through employee, contractor or the other “**Treasury**”) **third-party error or actions, including malicious state or state-sponsored actors, theft, hacking, cybersecurity incidents, and other security breaches and incidents, and such incidents may be difficult to detect or may be unknown for a significant period of time. It is possible for third parties to infringe upon or misappropriate our intellectual property, to copy or reverse engineer our proprietary manufacturing process, and to use information that we regard has as proprietary been given authority to create products and services that compete with ours. Intellectual property laws, procedures, and restrictions provide regulations only limited protection and any of our intellectual property rights may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated. Further, the laws of certain countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and, therefore, in certain jurisdictions, we may be unable to protect our proprietary technology. Effective patent, trademark and other guidance to carry out intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which our services are made available. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized copying and use of our intellectual property and proprietary information may increase. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent prevent** third parties from infringing on our intellectual property in all countries outside the U.S., or from selling or importing products made using our intellectual property in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and may also export infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement of patents and other intellectual protection is not as strong as that in the U.S. These products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property rights may

not be effective or sufficient to prevent the them abuse from competing. As we move into new markets and expand our avoidance of products or services offerings, this excise tax. The JOBS Act permits “emerging growth companies” like incumbent participants in such markets may assert their intellectual property and other proprietary rights against us to take advantage as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract substantial license and royalty payments from us. In addition, our agreements with some of our customers, suppliers or other entities with whom we do business requires us to defend or indemnify these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims, including the types of claims described above. As a result, we could incur significant costs and expenses that could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition. We have entered into confidentiality agreements with certain exemptions contractors and consultants as well as agreements containing restrictive covenants and confidentiality provisions with certain employees, and we may enter into agreements with similar provisions with our employees and with other third parties in the future. We cannot ensure that these agreements, or all the terms thereof, will be enforceable or compliant with applicable law, or otherwise effective in controlling access to, use of, reverse engineering, and distribution of our proprietary information. Further, these agreements with our employees, contractors, and other parties may not prevent other parties from independently developing technologies, products and services various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technologies, products and services. We believe that our proprietary manufacturing technology is a unique aspect in the current market and provides us with a significant competitive advantage. Our ability to prevent competitors from replicating this technology depends on our ability to obtain, maintain, protect, defend and enforce our intellectual property rights in the processes that comprise the technology and / or keep those processes and the underlying technology secret. We may not emerging growth companies be able to prevent competitors from replicating or developing a better version of our proprietary manufacturing technology, which could result in a substantial decrease in our revenue and limit demand for our services. We qualify as may need to spend significant resources securing and monitoring our intellectual property rights, and we may or may not be able to detect infringement by third parties. The steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to effectively prevent third parties from infringing, misappropriating, diluting or otherwise violating our intellectual property rights or to prevent unauthorized disclosure or unauthorized use of our trade secrets or other confidential information. Our competitive position may be adversely impacted if we cannot detect infringement or enforce our intellectual property rights quickly or at all. In some circumstances, we may choose not to pursue enforcement because an an infringer “emerging growth company” as has defined in a dominant intellectual property position, because of uncertainty relating to the scope of our intellectual property or the outcome of an enforcement Section action, or for 2 (a) (19) of the other Securities Act business reasons. In addition, as modified competitors might avoid infringement by the JOBS Act designing around our intellectual property rights or by developing non-infringing competing technologies. Litigation brought As such, we take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming, and distracting to management and our development teams and could result in other-- the public companies impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Further, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims attacking the scope, validity, and enforceability of our intellectual property rights, or with counterclaims and countersuits asserting infringement by us of third-party intellectual property rights. Our failure to secure, protect, and enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and our business, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. If we fail to comply with our obligations under license or technology agreements with third parties or are unable to license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms, we may be required to pay damages and could potentially lose license rights that are not emerging growth companies critical to our business. We license certain intellectual property, including (a) the exemption technologies, data, content and software from third parties the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (b) the exemptions from say..... value of our Class A Common Stock that is important to our held by non-affiliates exceeds \$ 700 million as of the last business day of our prior second fiscal quarter, and (b) the date on which we have issued more than \$ 1. 0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-- the year period. In future we may enter into addition additional agreements ; Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that provide us an emerging growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with licenses new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7 (a) (2) (B) of the Securities Act as long as we are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies valuable intellectual property or technology. If we fail The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, but any such election of the obligations under our license agreements, we may be required to opt out is irrevocable. We pay damages and the licensor may have elected the right to irrevocably opt out of such extended transition period terminate the license. Termination by the licensor would cause us to lose valuable rights, and could prevent us from selling which means that when a standard is issued or our revised products and services, it has different application dates for-- or public inhibit or our ability to commercialize future products and services private companies, we will adopt the new or revised standard at the time public companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of Our business would suffer if any current our-- or financial statements with another emerging growth company future licenses terminate, if the licensors fail to abide by the terms of the license, if the licensed intellectual property rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable, or if we are unable to enter into necessary licenses on acceptable terms. Moreover, our licensors may own or control intellectual property that has not opted out been licensed to us and, as a result, we may be subject to claims, regardless of using the their extended transition period difficult merit,

that we are infringing or otherwise violating the licensor's rights. In the future, we may identify additional third-party intellectual property we may need to license in order to engage in our business. However, such licenses may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. The licensing or acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and several more-established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. Even if such licenses are available, we may be required to pay the licensor substantial royalties based on sales of our products and services. Such royalties are a component of the cost of our products or services and may affect the margins on our products and services. In addition, such licenses may be non-exclusive, which could give our competitors access to the same intellectual property licensed to us. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition and results of operations. **If Obtaining and maintaining our estimates or patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, documentary, fee payment and the other potential differences requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. The United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent prosecution process. When related patents are pursued concurrently in accounting standards used multiple** jurisdictions, international treaties may impose additional procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions. Periodic maintenance or annuity fees and various other governmental fees on any issued patent and / or pending patent applications are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of a patent or patent application. Our outside counsel has systems in place to remind us to pay these fees, and we rely on our outside counsel and their third-party vendors to pay these fees. While an inadvertent lapse may sometimes be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are many situations in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent applications directed to our proprietary technology, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our technology. Our success is dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in our industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain, due in part to ongoing changes in patent laws. Depending on decisions by Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, and equivalent institutions in other jurisdictions, the laws and regulations governing patents, and interpretation thereof, could change in unpredictable ways that could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce existing or future patents. We cannot predict if investors' future changes in the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law. Those changes may materially affect our patents or patent applications and our ability to obtain additional patent protection in the future. Patent law can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important principles remain unresolved. In the United States and in many international jurisdictions, policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in patents can be inconsistent. The U.S. Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made, and will find our Class A Common Stock less attractive because we **likely continue to make, changes in how they interpret the patent laws of the United States. Similarly, international courts have made, and will likely continue** rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A Common Stock less attractive as a result, there may be less active trading market for our Class A Common Stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We are a smaller reporting company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies will make **, changes in how** our common stock less attractive to investors. We are a smaller reporting company under Rule 12b-2 of the **they interpret the patent laws in** Securities Exchange Act of 1934. For as long as we continue to be a smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other **their respective jurisdictions** public companies that are not smaller reporting companies, including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict **future changes in the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by U. S. and international legislative bodies. Those changes may materially affect our patent rights and our ability to obtain issued patents. We may be subject to intellectual property rights claims by third parties, which could be costly to defend, could require us to pay significant damages and, if investors will find we are unsuccessful in defending such claims, could limit our ability to use certain technologies and compete. Third parties may assert claims of infringement of intellectual property rights** our **or violation of** Class A Common Stock less attractive because we may rely on smaller reporting company exemptions. If some investors find our Class A Common Stock less attractive as a result, there **other** may be a less active trading market **statutory, license or contractual rights in technology against us or against our customers for which we may be liable** our **or have** Class A Common Stock, and our stock price may be more volatile. We may issue additional common stock or preferred stock under an **indemnification obligation** employee incentive plan. Any such **claim by** issuances would dilute the interest of our stockholders and likely present other risks. We may issue a **third party, even** substantial number of additional shares of common or preferred stock under an employee incentive plan. The issuance of additional shares of common or preferred stock: • may significantly dilute the equity interests of our investors; • may subordinate the rights of holders of common stock if **without merit**, preferred stock is issued with rights senior to those afforded our common stock; • could cause **us to incur** a change in control if a substantial number of shares of **costs defending against such claim and could distract** our common stock are issued, which **management and our**

development teams from our business. Although third parties may affect, among other things, our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards, if any offered license, and could result in the resignation or removal of our present officers and directors; and may not adversely affect prevailing market prices for our Class A Common Stock and / or warrants. The Charter designates state courts within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be acceptable and the failure initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders' ability to obtain a license favorable judicial forum for or disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or agents. The Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, (a) the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or other the wrongdoing by, any current or former..... an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in any license could cause our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results to be adversely affected. In addition, some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to other the jurisdictions same technology licensed to us. Alternatively, we may be required to develop non-infringing technology which could harm require significant effort and expense and ultimately may not be successful. Furthermore, a successful claimant could secure a judgment or we may agree to a settlement that prevents us from selling certain products or performing certain services or that requires us to pay substantial damages, including treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed such claimant's patents, copyrights, trade secrets or other statutory rights, royalties or other fees. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results operations. Our business ability to successfully maintain and operations upgrade our information technology systems, and to respond effectively to failures, disruptions, compromises or breaches of our information technology systems, may adversely affect be significantly disrupted upon the occurrence of a catastrophic event, information technology system failures or our cyberattack competitiveness and profitability. Our business is dependent on proprietary technologies, processes and information that we have developed, much of which is stored on our computer systems. We also have entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications and other information technology ("IT") services in connection with our operations. Our operations depend, in part, on how well we and our vendors protect networks, equipment, IT systems and software against damage from a number of threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural disasters, intentional damage and destruction, fire, power loss, hacking, computer viruses, vandalism, theft, malware, ransomware and phishing attacks. Any of these and other events could result in IT system failures, delays, a material disruption of our business or increases in capital expenses. Our operations also depend on In addition, as artificial intelligence capabilities and other new or evolving technologies improve and gain widespread use, the cybersecurity threats we face and incidents we experience from timely -- time maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment and IT systems and software, as well as preemptive expenses to time may become even more challenging to prevent, detect and mitigate to the extent risks of failures. Furthermore, the they importance of such information increasingly use artificial intelligence or other new or evolving technology technologies systems and networks and systems has increased due to many of our employees working remotely on less secure systems and environments. These attacks Additionally, if one of our service providers were to fail and we were unable to find a suitable replacement in a timely manner, we could be unable designed to properly administer directly attack information systems with increased speed and / our or outsourced functions efficiency or create more effective phishing techniques. If we cannot continue It is also possible for a threat to retain these services be introduced as a result of our prospective customers and third-party provided providers using by our vendors on acceptable terms, our access to the IT system output of and and an artificial intelligence tool or phishing attacks. Any of these and other new or evolving technologies that include events could result in IT system failures, delays, a material threat, such as introducing malicious code by incorporating artificial intelligence-generated source code. We also face threats and experience cybersecurity incidents and attempts from time to time, not only from hackers that are intent on theft and disruption of, but also from negligent employees our or business malicious insiders that may attempt to steal or our information increases in capital expenses. Our operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment and IT systems and software, as well as preemptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures. Furthermore, the importance of such IT information technology systems and networks and systems has increased due to many of our employees working remotely on less secure systems and environments. Additionally, if one of our service providers were to fail and we were unable to find a suitable replacement in a timely manner, we could be unable to properly administer our outsourced functions. If we cannot continue to retain these services provided by our vendors on acceptable terms, our access to the IT system and services could be interrupted. Any security breach, interruption or failure in our IT system and operations could impair quality of services, increase costs, prompt litigation and other consumer claims, result in liability under our contracts, and damage our reputation, any of which could substantially harm our business, financial condition or the results of operations. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and financial condition or the results of operations. ITEM 1B As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. Unresolved Staff Comments While we have implemented security resources to protect our data security and IT systems, such measures may not prevent such events. Certain measures that could increase the security of our IT system take significant time and resources to deploy broadly, and such measures may not be deployed in a timely manner or be effective against an attack. The inability to implement, maintain and upgrade adequate safeguards could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Significant disruption to our IT system or breaches of data security could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Cyber-attacks are of

ever-increasing levels of sophistication, and despite our security measures, our IT and infrastructure may be vulnerable to such attacks or may be breached, including due to employee error or malfeasance. In addition, the Company is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States regarding privacy, data protection, and data security, including those related to the collection, storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer and security of personal data. Compliance with and interpretation of various data privacy regulations continue to evolve and any violation could subject the Company to legal claims, regulatory penalties and damage to its reputation. Our failure to comply with these evolving regulations, whether as a result of a cyber-attack or otherwise, could expose us to fines, sanctions, penalties and other costs that could harm our reputation and adversely impact our financial results. Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us could result in information theft, data corruption, operational disruption and / or financial loss. We depend on digital technologies, including information systems, infrastructure and cloud applications and services, including those of third parties with which we may deal. Sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, our systems or infrastructure, or the systems or infrastructure of third parties or the cloud, could lead to corruption or misappropriation of our assets, proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data. As an early-stage company without significant investments in data security protection, we may not be sufficiently protected against such occurrences. We may not have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber incidents. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss. We are also dependent, in part, upon Intermediate's information. A failure in the security of Intermediate's information systems could seriously harm our business and results of operations.